
Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-K
☒ Annual Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

OR

☐ Transition report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Commission File Number: 001-35580

SERVICENOW, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 20-2056195
(State or other jurisdiction of

 incorporation or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer

 Identification Number)

ServiceNow, Inc.
2225 Lawson Lane

Santa Clara, California 95054
(408) 501-8550

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant’s principal executive offices) 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share NOW The New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Not applicable

__________________________
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of Act. Yes ☐ No ☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days: Yes ☒No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Filer ☒ Accelerated Filer ☐

Non-Accelerated Filer ☐ Smaller Reporting Company ☐

Emerging Growth Company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting
standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☒

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to
previously issued financial statements.  ☐



Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive
officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes  ☐No ☒

Based on the closing price of the registrant’s Common Stock on the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, which was June 30, 2023, the aggregate
market value of its shares (based on a closing price of $561.97 per share on June 30, 2023 as reported on the New York Stock Exchange) held by non-affiliates was approximately $87.8 billion.

As of January 19, 2024, there were approximately 205 million shares of the registrant’s Common Stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (Proxy Statement) to be filed within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Report on Form 10-K. Except with respect to information specifically incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K, the Proxy
Statement is not deemed to be filed as part of this Form 10-K.



TABLE OF CONTENTS
 

 Page

PART I
Item 1 Business 1
Item 1A Risk Factors 13
Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments 27
Item 1C Cybersecurity 28
Item 2 Properties 30
Item 3 Legal Proceedings 30
Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures 30

PART II
Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 31
Item 6 [Reserved] 34
Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 34
Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 48
Item 8 Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 50
Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 83
Item 9A Controls and Procedures 83
Item 9B Other Information 84
Item 9C Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 84

PART III
Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 84
Item 11 Executive Compensation 84
Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 84
Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 84
Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services 84

PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 85
Item 16 Form 10-K Summary 86

Exhibit Index 86
Signatures 89

   
 
 



Table of Contents

PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains
forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future results that are based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections
about our business, our results of operations, the industry in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management. Words such as
“believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “intend” and “expect,” as well as variations of these
words and similar expressions, are intended to identify those forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject
to risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those
expressed in any forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in
this Report under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I and elsewhere herein and in other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). While forward-looking statements are based on our management’s reasonable expectations at the time that they are made, you should not rely on
those statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

ServiceNow was founded on a simple premise: to make work flow better. Our purpose is to make the world work better for everyone. We are the end-
to-end intelligent workflow automation platform for digital businesses. Our intelligent platform, the Now Platform, is a cloud-based solution with
embedded artificial intelligence (“AI”) and machine learning (“ML”) capabilities that helps global enterprises across industries, universities and
governments unify and digitize their workflows. By connecting workflows across siloed organizational functions and systems, the Now Platform delivers
business outcomes, including unlocking productivity, streamlining processes, and improving experiences for both employees and customers.

Our workflow applications built on the Now Platform are organized in four primary areas: Technology, Customer and Industry, Employee, and
Creator. Our Technology Workflows empower Information Technology (“IT”) departments to plan, build, operate and service the IT needs of the business
enterprise. Our Customer and Industry Workflows help organizations reimagine the customer experience and increase customer loyalty. Our Employee
Workflows help customers simplify how their employees access services they need, creating a consumer-like experience. Our Creator Workflows enable
customers to quickly create, test, and deploy their own low-code applications on the Now Platform.

We continue to evolve these workflows to meet the needs of our customers’ expanding digital requirements by modernizing technology operations,
employee experiences, customer experiences, industry-specific challenges, and application development and integration. For example, we embedded into
each of these workflows AI and ML capabilities, such as text-to-code, intent understanding, knowledge synthesis, issue summarization, and virtual agent to
drive employee, customer, agent and developer productivity for our customers.

Traditionally, business processes have been embedded in separate enterprise technology systems, such as finance, human resources (“HR”), sales and
customer support, which have become disconnected, siloed and complex, offering limited flexibility and adaptability. They also fail to provide the intuitive
and empowering experience that users now expect from consumer-grade applications. The Now Platform offers a solution to these limitations by enabling
rapid business process automation across enterprise technology systems that keeps pace with a rapidly changing environment.

We believe a better service and end-user experience, and organizational agility are the ultimate desired outcomes of digital transformation. The Now
Platform enables our customers’ digital transformation from non-integrated enterprise technology solutions with manual and disconnected processes and
activities, to integrated enterprise technology solutions with automation and connected processes and activities. The transformation to digital operations,
enabled by the Now Platform, increases our customers’ resiliency and security and delivers great experiences and additional value to their C-suite,
employees and consumers.

The Now Platform’s single data model and architecture allows work to be done across the enterprise with a unified, consumer-grade user experience.
For example, a new employee can use ServiceNow to complete onboarding tasks seamlessly. Through an integrated ServiceNow workflow, our consumer-
grade mobile application guides the employee through onboarding tasks originating from ServiceNow or other systems, automating tasks across multiple
functions such

1



Table of Contents

as HR, IT, facilities and more. Similarly, the Now Platform enables customer service to be executed in a way that reduces customer effort, provides
proactive service, empowers agents and streamlines communication and automation across departments.

Because of these advantages, our customers frequently expand their use of the Now Platform. For example, many companies now have multi-year
digital transformation plans that introduce the use of additional ServiceNow products and services.

Our ability to help our customers solve their unique challenges, operate on their unique technologies and systems and change at their own unique
pace, all on a single platform, has earned us their trust with their mission-critical operations.

Our ambition to become the defining enterprise software company of the 21  century is the driving force behind our commitment to providing
exceptional customer service and our overall business strategy and is guided by our values:

• Wow our customers: Customers are the center of our world. We strive to deliver the best customer experiences and innovations.
• Win as a team: We share the same goals and have clear roles in achieving them. We deliver results as a team and enjoy the journey.
• Create belonging: Diversity, equity and inclusion are fundamental. Belonging is the breakthrough. We lead with empathy, which means listening

and acting to make everyone feel they belong with ServiceNow.
• Stay hungry and humble: We do not take success for granted. We are always ready to learn and evolve. We grow together, bringing fresh ideas

and new perspectives.

By prioritizing these values, we are able to gain our customers’ trust, execute on our overall business strategy and feel immensely proud that “The
World Works with ServiceNow.”

Our Products

ServiceNow’s product portfolio—which spans our Technology, Customer and Industry, Employee, and Creator & Other Workflows—is delivered on
the Now Platform. The products under each of our workflows help customers connect, automate and empower work across systems and silos to enable
great outcomes for businesses and great experiences for people. Each year, two major platform upgrades are released, delivering new standard functionality
and new standalone products to further simplify the way our customers work and enhance productivity.

st
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The Now Platform

The Now Platform is the intelligent platform for end-to-end digital transformation. It is a single platform with one data model, one code base and one
architecture, enabling speed, productivity and innovation and offering a one-stop shop for automation and simplification of manual processes. It is highly
flexible, scalable, and extensible. The Now Platform automates workflows across an entire enterprise by connecting disparate departments, systems, and
silos in a seamless way to unlock productivity and improve experiences for both employees and customers. As the foundation for how we deliver our cross-
enterprise digital workflows, the Now Platform orchestrates work across our customers’ cloud platforms and systems of choice, allowing our customers to
get work done regardless of their current and future preferred systems of record and collaboration platforms.

The automation of workflows on our platform can be enhanced by additional functionality, including, depending on the product, AI (including
generative AI), machine learning, robotic process automation, process mining, performance analytics, and low-code/no-code development tools. Further,
the Now Platform is uniquely positioned to bring the full potential of generative AI to the enterprise. With our recent software release, we have combined
the power of the Now Platform with new generative AI features to provide AI-driven intelligence to every corner of the business. These features are offered
through Now Assist, our generative AI solution available for certain products at an additional cost. We offer enterprise-ready, domain-specific large
language models (“LLMs”) that power generative AI experiences on the Now Platform, and we support customer use of third-party LLMs. By infusing
generative AI into the Now Platform and all ServiceNow workflows, we are enhancing every business-critical function to increase productivity, accelerate
agility and deliver value for customers across all industries.

The Now Platform also creates a common user experience to manage workflows across all interfaces so end users can get work done anywhere from
web-based to mobile to conversation applications. Enterprises can leverage our platform’s consumer-like experiences to help them deliver services such as
mobile HR information and tools or ordering a computer. Our goal is to make our customers’ work lives as simple and as easy as their personal lives.

Technology Workflows

Technology Workflows help companies unite IT, technology, risk management and security operations on a single platform to deliver modern,
resilient digital services aligned to our customers’ priorities. Our Technology products enable IT departments to serve their customers, manage their IT
infrastructure, identify and remediate security vulnerabilities and threats, gain visibility across their IT resources and asset lifecycles, optimize IT costs and
reduce time spent on administrative tasks. Our Technology products also drive enterprise-wide outcomes, as well as power our Customer and Industry, and
Employee Workflows.

Asset Management

Our Asset Management product suite includes IT Asset Management and Enterprise Asset Management. IT Asset Management inventories and
automates customers’ software, hardware and cloud asset lifecycles with workflows and analytics to track the financial, contractual and inventory details of
these IT assets from end-to-end. Enterprise Asset Management inventories and automates processes across the lifecycle of a customer's physical business
assets from planning, deployment, inventory management and maintenance through retirement.

Cloud Observability

Cloud Observability provides deep, real-time visibility into cloud-native and monolithic environments that power our customers’ internal- and
external-facing products and services. Cloud Observability empowers site reliability engineering and application development teams to mitigate business
disruption, accelerate innovation, and deliver outstanding customer experiences.

ESG Management

Our ESG Management product helps customers elevate their environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) programs with streamlined data
collection, on-demand progress monitoring, and automated reporting. Integrations with Strategic Portfolio Management and Integrated Risk Management
provide a holistic program that enables our customers to accelerate and operationalize their ESG strategies by setting material goals and policies, tracking
metrics and risks, driving enterprise-wide compliance and enabling investor-grade ESG disclosure.
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Integrated Risk Management

Our Integrated Risk Management (“IRM”) product suite helps customers manage risk and resilience in real time. IRM’s capabilities include policy
and compliance management, regulatory change management, compliance case management, IT and operational risk management, audit management,
business continuity management, privacy management, and third party and vendor risk management.

IT Operations Management

Our IT Operations Management product helps identify, monitor and manage a customer’s physical and cloud-based IT infrastructure. It identifies a
customer’s IT infrastructure components (e.g., servers) and associated digital services (e.g., email), which are dependent upon that infrastructure. It also
maintains a single data record for all IT configurable items, which allows our customers to exercise control over their on-premises or cloud-based
infrastructures and orchestrate key processes and tasks.

IT Service Management

Our IT Service Management (“ITSM”) product, powered by AI, defines, structures, consolidates, manages and automates the digital services that an
enterprise offers its employees, customers and partners. ITSM’s capabilities include, among others, predictive intelligence, Virtual Agent, incident
management and response, routine task and request automation, performance analytics and process optimization capabilities.

Now Assist for ITSM, a generative AI solution, can help improve agent productivity and the employee experience with faster, more seamless
resolutions. It provides summaries of Virtual Agent interactions and incident history so agents can efficiently resolve incidents. Upon incident closure,
solution notes are generated to speed wrap times and adhere to incident management best practices.

Security Operations

Our Security Operations product suite connects security with the rest of the enterprise, integrating internal and third-party security and vulnerability
data to quickly respond to security incidents and vulnerabilities, prioritized according to their potential impact on a customer’s business.

Strategic Portfolio Management

Our Strategic Portfolio Management (“SPM”) product enables customers to drive business outcomes by aligning their strategy with investments and
execution. SPM helps customers plan, visualize and track value realization across their portfolio of projects, initiatives and digital products all on one
platform.

Customer and Industry Workflows

Customer and Industry Workflows help organizations reduce costs while delivering seamless experiences with connected digital workflows that
deliver modern customer experiences and industry-specific use cases. Customer and Industry Workflows help customers elevate their customer service with
enhanced resolution efficiency and improved service quality made possible with workflows, automation, AI, and location-based work tasks management.
Customer service departments no longer need to rely on agents searching multiple systems to find a single resolution to customer requests. Integrating
front-end customer service capabilities with operations, order fulfillment and field service resources, our Customer and Industry Workflows products help
create a seamless customer experience from request to resolution through connected digital workflows that deliver fast support on a customer’s channel of
choice.

Customer Service Management

Our Customer Service Management (“CSM”) product helps teams deliver seamless customer service experiences by connecting front, middle and
back offices, optimizing omnichannel self-service automated issue resolution, and enabling agents with real-time intelligence. Additionally, with CSM,
companies can route work to the right agent based on priority and category, decreasing errors by surfacing recommended solutions based on prior cases and
interactions.

Now Assist for CSM, a generative AI solution, rapidly generates summaries for cases and chats, reduces manual work, and allows agents to resolve
customer issues faster. This solution helps accelerate time to resolution, reduce case volume, and personalize service, which leads to reduced customer
effort and increased customer satisfaction.
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Field Service Management

Our Field Service Management product automates and streamlines field service processes to increase technician productivity, improve first time fix
rates, and optimize field technician dispatching. With work order management, schedule optimization, dispatching, and preventative maintenance all in
one, field service agents can be assigned, deployed and managed on the same underlying customer service management platform that created and managed
the customer incident. Organizations can streamline resource management and empower technicians with job details, customer information, and parts
required to maximize effectiveness and deliver great customer experiences.

Industry

We offer industry solutions to better address the unique needs for specific industries, including banking, insurance, telecommunications, technology,
healthcare, life sciences, manufacturing and the global public sector. We expect the number of industry-specific solutions to grow as we gain adoption in
new industries.

With Telecom Service Management, Order Management for Telecom,
Network Inventory Management, and Telecom Service Operations
Management, customers can streamline service experiences to maximize
investments, scale their order management process, launch services
quickly, enhance customer care, automate service assurance, gain real-time
data visibility and optimize their network management on a single
platform.
 

With Healthcare and Life Sciences Service Management and Clinical
Device Management, customers can offer consumer-grade experiences,
enhance patient care, unlock productivity, streamline operations and
efficiently manage and service clinical devices.
 

With Technology Provider Service Management and Order Management
for Technology Providers, service providers can help customer and
operations teams work together to accelerate speed to market for new
solutions and reduce costs while delivering a seamless experience.

With Manufacturing Connected Workforce and Operational Technology
Management, customers can empower their workforce with digital tools
and knowledge to improve efficiency and create a single system of action
for their operational environment, improve uptime and drive outcomes
across their operations.
 

With Financial Services Operations, banking and insurance customers can
unite their front, middle and back offices to improve customer and
employee experiences while reducing operating costs.

With Public Sector Digital Services, public sector customers of all sizes can
build a seamless experience to increase trust, empathy and transparency
between government agencies and constituents, and connect government
agencies with each other on a single digital platform.
 

Employee Workflows

Employee Workflows transform the employee experience by making it easier for them to work and collaborate where and how they want, improving
productivity, agility and performance. Employee Workflows products also help customers unlock skills and capabilities of their workforce by being more
efficient with their employee resources, staffing and delivery services, increasing our customers’ ability to streamline and gain visibility into employee
lifecycle events.

HR Service Delivery

Our HR Service Delivery product helps organizations manage employee requests by defining, structuring, consolidating, managing and automating
HR services. HR Service Delivery capabilities include HR case management,
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employee self-service, manager experiences, knowledge management and management of employee lifecycle events across multiple departments, such as
onboarding, transfers and off-boarding.

Now Assist for HR Service Delivery, a generative AI solution, helps HR leaders drive productivity and operational efficiency, reduces redundant,
manual tasks for HR teams, and gets employees the answers they need quickly. From payroll discrepancies to employee information updates, HR managers
can resolve a range of issues quickly by reviewing instant summaries of case topics, previous history of live chat and Virtual Agent interactions, prior
resolutions and actions taken.

Legal Service Delivery

Our Legal Service Delivery product helps corporate legal teams modernize internal legal operations to manage legal requests across the enterprise.
With Legal Service Delivery, legal teams can deliver support efficiently by deploying specialized practice area workflows, utilizing automated responses
and getting insight into demand with real-time reporting and dashboards.

Workplace Service Delivery

Our Workplace Service Delivery product helps organizations manage workplace services, facilities and real estate. With Workplace Service Delivery,
companies can optimize their workspace with real-time analytics and indoor mapping capabilities, and can automate workplace requests, reservations and
repairs, and track health and safety incidents to keep workplaces running smoothly.

Creator & Other Workflows

Creator Workflows help customers build and manage cross-enterprise workflows fast with a low-code development experience that safely delivers
agile services at scale and with features such as those that allow customers to manage security and storage. As organizations digitally transform, they need
to adapt faster with new processes and business models. This requires faster, more agile execution with more automation delivered throughout an
organization’s business processes. With Creator Workflows, citizen developers have access to pre-built templates, low-code tools and modular building
blocks created by professional developers. We enable Creator Workflows through App Engine and Automation Engine, among other products. To help
customers in key business functions, we also enable Other Workflows through Platform Privacy and Security and Source-to-Pay Operations, among other
products.

With Now Assist for Creator, a generative AI solution, development teams can create and scale apps more quickly on the Now Platform. Trained on
code from ServiceNow engineering, results generated with Now Assist for Creator are generally higher quality and more scalable and secure than any other
code generation technology. This solution includes the general availability of text-to-code, which converts natural language text into high-quality code
suggestions, and in some cases into complete code, enabling faster development and increased productivity.

App Engine

Our App Engine product empowers our customers’ employees to create enterprise-class workflows using low-code and no-code development tooling
and does not require formal coding experience. App Engine delivers intuitive and intelligent development experiences, designed for speed, security and
scale. Examples of the types of workflows our customers have developed using App Engine include:

• an application for a retailer to manage the workflow for loss prevention, fraud protection and asset protection in retail locations;
• an application to manage licensing, contracting and compliance examinations and financial reviews, replacing a months-long, manual process with

a 30-minute automated process;
• an application to automate the manual processing of billable invoices, reducing processing time from days to minutes; and
• an application to provide overnight loans in different currencies for central banks.

Automation Engine

Our Automation Engine product helps workflows integrate by connecting or automating systems, documents or tasks with minimal code. Manual
work can be eliminated by leveraging robotic process automation and intelligent document processing capabilities. Automation Engine includes process
mining capabilities that can uncover trends and patterns in business processes and help eliminate redundancies, drive process optimization, along with cost
and productivity efficiencies.
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Platform Privacy and Security

Our Platform Privacy and Security product provides premium security and privacy controls to help ServiceNow customers protect and control their
sensitive data in the cloud.

Source-to-Pay Operations

Our Source-to-Pay Operations (formerly, Procurement Operations Management) suite connects to customers’ existing enterprise resource planning
(“ERP”) systems and provides a source-to-pay workflow automation solution that enables procurement departments to create a unified work experience
across teams. It enables organizations to do more with their existing procurement teams and to further scale without dramatically increasing staff.

Customer Success, Support and Professional Services

Impact

ServiceNow Impact helps our customers accelerate the value they realize with our products and solutions. It provides customers AI-based software
tools that offer customers recommendations to proactively monitor platform health and allow customers to track metrics of value to them. Impact customers
also have access to a team of on-demand experts, training and other services.

Professional Services

Our Professional Services are offered by ServiceNow alone and in a co-delivery model with our network of partners to help customers maximize the
value of their ServiceNow investment. Our Professional Services include process design, implementation, configuration, architecture and optimization
services. With our prescriptive methodology as the foundation for customer success, our services bring together our experts and leading practices enabling
our customers to create value and drive customer outcomes as they embark on enterprise digital transformations through the use of our platform. Our
training services include programs for all of our products.

Customer Support

Customers receive standard and enhanced support from technical resources located around the globe. We offer customer support on a subscription-
based model, and we offer self-service technical support through our support portal, which provides access to documentation, knowledge base articles,
online training, online support forums and online case creation.

Our Technology and Operations

We operate a multi-instance architecture that provides each customer with its own dedicated application logic and databases. This architecture is
designed to deliver high-availability, scalability, performance, security and control. Our cloud infrastructure primarily consists of industry-standard servers,
networks and storage components. We host our full software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) experience on our own private cloud and use public cloud service
providers for customers that are primarily in highly regulated markets or at their request.

Our data centers operate in paired configurations to enable replication for high-availability and redundancy. We currently operate data centers in
North America, South America, Europe, Asia and Australia , and we continuously evaluate our data center operations and capacity in existing and new
geographies.

We offer customers the option to deploy our services on dedicated hardware in our data centers. Our architecture also gives us the added flexibility to
allow customers the option of deploying our services internally in their own data centers or under contract with a third party to host the software in order to
support unique regulatory or security requirements. While there are some limitations on agility and flexibility as compared to our cloud offering, a minority
of our customers have elected the third-party alternative. The standard and enhanced customer support we provide for self-hosted customers is similar to
the support we provide to customers deployed in our managed data centers.
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Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products and services to enterprises across industries, including government, financial services, healthcare,
telecommunications, manufacturing, IT services, technology, oil and gas, education and consumer products. We sell our product offerings and services
through subscription services primarily through our global direct sales organization. We also sell services through managed service providers and resale
partners.

Our marketing efforts and lead generation activities consist primarily of customer referrals, digital advertising (including via our website), trade
shows, industry events, brand campaigns and press releases. We also host our annual Knowledge user conference, webinars and other user forums,
including regional forums, which we call World Forums, where customers and partners both participate in and present on a variety of programs designed to
educate them on industry best practices and help accelerate their success.

We continue to expand our sales capabilities in new geographies, including through investments in direct and indirect sales channels, professional
services capabilities, customer support resources, post-sales customer support resources, strategic alliances and partnerships, implementation partners and
advisory councils. We also plan to increase our investment in our existing locations in order to achieve scale efficiencies in our sales and marketing efforts.

Partner Ecosystem

In addition to our global direct sales organization, we also have a strong and growing ecosystem of partners that helps accelerate our customers’
digital transformation initiatives and deliver customer value at scale. Our partners play a critical role in helping companies digitally transform their
businesses. Our industry and workflow capabilities paired with our partners’ industry and functional domain experience help customers of all sizes.
Together with our partners, we offer industry and domain-focused solutions at scale and are accelerating digital transformation as we help companies drive
new approaches in engaging their end users and employees.

We are seeing continued momentum across the partner ecosystem. We have established several foundational partnerships in 2023. For example, one
of these partnerships is with NVIDIA, with which we plan to develop powerful, enterprise-grade generative AI capabilities to transform business processes
with faster, more intelligent workflow automation. We also have extended our relationships with a number of partners to enhance generative AI capabilities
including, among others, Accenture, Deloitte, EY, KPMG and Cognizant.

Customers
 
We primarily sell our services to large enterprise customers, and we host and support large, enterprise-wide deployments for our customers. As of

December 31, 2023, we had over 8,100 customers. Our customers operate in a wide variety of industries, including government, financial services,
healthcare, manufacturing, IT services, technology, oil and gas, telecommunications, education and consumer products. The portion of our revenues
generated by sales to government customers has also increased over time. See “Risk Factors—Doing business with the public sector and heavily-regulated
entities subjects us to risks related to the government procurement process, regulations, and contracting requirements” for additional information about our
sales to government customers.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is responsible for the design, development, testing and validation of our solutions. We focus on
innovating and developing new services and core technologies and further enhancing the functionality, reliability and performance of our existing solutions.
Using emerging technologies, we can anticipate customer demands and then bring new services and new versions of existing services to market quickly in
order to remain competitive in the marketplace. We have made, and will continue to make, significant investments in research and development to broaden
our platform capabilities, strengthen our existing applications, expand the number of applications on our platform, enhance our user experience and develop
additional mobile, automation, AI and machine intelligence technologies.

Acquisitions and Investments

In addition to our own research and development investments, we have made strategic acquisitions and investments and will continue to assess
opportunities to complement our technology and skill sets and expand our product reach. Our focus is on building out our platform and products through
both organic investments to support customer needs and acquisitions of talent and enhanced capabilities. Our acquisitions and larger strategic investments
in 2023 focused on
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bringing additional AI capabilities, process mining functionality and health and safety features to the Now Platform and across our suite of products.

Competition

As customers accelerate their digital transformation plans and digital operation initiatives, they demand less complexity and lower total cost solutions
for the implementation, sourcing, integration and ongoing maintenance of their IT environments. The Now Platform is designed to meet customers’
demands and offers solutions that are complementary to the offerings of many enterprise software vendors. We work directly with product and service
offerings from a broad range of companies, including some of the largest in the world, and continuously increase our strategic alliances with many of these
companies as we expand our integrations for customers. As we grow and the space where we operate develops and matures, we increasingly find ourselves
in competition with solutions and alternative approaches to solving customer needs, including:

• Enterprise application software vendors. The Now Platform quickly integrates with, and complements the performance of, enterprise application
software from other well-established vendors, such as Oracle, SAP, Salesforce and Workday. Customers may choose to work directly with their
application software vendors to improve integrations and create connected workflows.

• New technologies and entrants. Markets are rapidly evolving and highly competitive, with relatively low barriers to entry. New technologies and
competitors are entering the markets to solve similar problems in different ways, intensifying competition. Customers may choose alternative
technologies that automate or create connected workflows. New entrants may choose to offer software tailored to specific services, as opposed to
competing across all Now Platform capabilities.

• In-house solutions. Customers may choose to work with their internal IT departments or other personnel to build custom workflow solutions and
integrations.

• Cloud-based vendors. As businesses increasingly utilize public cloud and SaaS-based offerings, they are adopting a hybrid (on-premises and off-
premises) approach for their existing and new workloads. As a result, our services will need to increasingly compete with public cloud and SaaS
offerings.

Intellectual Property
 
We rely upon a combination of U.S. and international copyright, trade secret, patent and trademark laws and confidentiality procedures and

contractual rights and restrictions to establish, protect and grow our intellectual property (“IP”) rights. We enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights
agreements with our employees, partners, vendors, consultants and other third parties and limit access to our IP and other proprietary information. We also
purchase or license IP and technology that we incorporate into our products or services.

We continue to grow our global patent portfolio and IP rights that relate to our platform, applications, services, research and development and other
activities. Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our core technology and IP. As of December 31, 2023, we had over 2,000 U.S. and
foreign patents, including patents acquired from third parties, and over 600 pending patent applications. We do not believe that our proprietary technology
is dependent on any single patent or group of related patents. See “Risk Factors—Our intellectual property protections may not provide us with a
competitive advantage, and defending our intellectual property may result in substantial expenses that harm our operating results” and “Risk Factors—
Lawsuits by third parties that allege we infringe their intellectual property rights could harm our business and operating results” for additional information.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Our ESG strategy is aligned to our corporate purpose to “make the world work better for everyone.” We are committed to sustaining our planet
(environmental), creating equitable opportunities (social), acting with integrity (governance) and enabling our customers to make progress and deliver on
their ESG goals. The challenges we and our stakeholders collectively face, such as managing the impact of climate change or navigating diversity and
inclusion, have highlighted our ability to help our customers manage a range of ESG topics and prepare for ESG-related regulatory requirements in
different markets. Our ESG mandate is twofold: to advance our ESG strategy and to expand our digital platform to enable our stakeholders to advance
theirs. For example, we have taken actions to reduce our carbon footprint, which are documented and measured in our ESG Management product. This
product can be used by our customers to help them deliver on their own emissions reduction efforts.
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Initiatives to improve our diversity, equity and inclusion (“DEI”) help build a more inclusive workforce. They also help us attract and retain talent and
bring different perspectives that foster innovation. Initiatives to strengthen the governance of our business—leading with ethics and focusing on security
and data privacy—improve the oversight of our business and help us maintain the trust of our customers. We release an annual Global Impact Report that
details our ESG strategy, initiatives and performance.

Human Capital Management

Our People Pact

Our People Pact is pivotal to our goal of becoming the defining enterprise software company of the 21  century. Our People Pact is a commitment to
helping each other live our best lives, do our best work, and fulfill our purpose together. It is built on two foundational principles and three key outcomes:

Foundational Principles

Honor ServiceNow’s authentic culture and purpose as we continue
to grow

Ensure that our people strategy is informed by data and insights to
scale efficiently and make informed and unbiased decisions

Key Outcomes
Scale and Innovation

Build a talent system that attracts, grows and
retains the people who will drive our business

forward

Inclusive Employee Experience
 

Power our company with a more diverse
workforce, equitable processes that drive positive

outcomes and create an inclusive employee
experience

Growth and Development
 

Invest in new learning and development paths
and resources for our people to grow themselves

and their teams

Our Culture

ServiceNow’s culture is grounded in our values. We live our culture by regularly listening to our people and gathering feedback directly from our
workforce to inform our programs and meet employee needs globally. Our Employee Voice Survey (“EVS”) measures and analyzes employee engagement,
including inclusion and belonging, learning and development, recognition, compensation, and wellbeing. EVS insights are used to create action plans at all
levels of the organization and inform the assessment of our human capital management approach and its alignment with our purpose and business strategy.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

“Creating Belonging” is one of our four company values that guides our ambition to becoming the defining enterprise software company of the 21
century. We believe that employees with diverse backgrounds and experiences who are comfortable expressing their points of view in the workplace will
work together to create better products and services that will appeal to a wider customer base and ultimately result in more business for ServiceNow. To
foster a sense of belonging among employees, we have implemented several initiatives focused on recruiting, learning and development, and culture that
weave DEI throughout our talent processes and employee experience. Our global inclusion framework focuses on three key areas:

Business Community Strategic Partnerships

Enable each function to build the most
innovative teams possible through a global and

data driven approach that drives structural
inclusion and improves equitable outcomes for

all

Strengthen and expand our inclusive culture
through our Belonging Groups and extend our

impact throughout the industry

Engage strategic partners to provide a wide
variety of professional development

opportunities that meet the evolving needs of
our employees

st

st
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We support multiple Belonging Groups within our business and employee community, including for women, different racial and ethnic groups,
families, military veterans, people with disabilities, people of different faiths, and people who identify as LGBTQI+. These groups are intended to serve the
wellbeing of our employees and contribute to our culture and community-building efforts across ServiceNow. We also publicly disclose our progress on a
range of DEI workforce metrics in the various reports we issue.

Our strategic partnerships help us to amplify our external presence within a wide range of communities, raising awareness about career opportunities
and the benefits of our products and services. These partnerships also provide culturally relevant leadership and professional development opportunities for
our current and future employees. For example, our RiseUp with ServiceNow program, a partnership with our customers, aspires to fuel a new economy of
in-demand, job-ready talent with an emphasis on faster, more equitable career paths in the high-growth ServiceNow ecosystem. We are on track to skill one
million people on the Now Platform by 2024 under this program. Also, our NextGen Professionals Program invests in digital skills training for
marginalized and underserved communities.

Learning and Development

Our people have a deep desire to learn and grow. Our learning and development programs are designed to “grow self, grow team, grow business.” In
addition to the extensive functional learning program run by individual business units that focus on technical skills and capabilities, our global Learning
and Development program is focused on enabling all our people – from our early-in-career talent who have access to programs that help them plan for
professional growth and financial success to our more tenured leaders who have access to programs focusing on the importance of inclusive leadership,
strategy and trust.

Total Rewards and Pay Equity

Our total rewards philosophy has at its core the goal of attracting, rewarding, and retaining top talent to help us execute our strategy and mission. We
believe in fair and competitive pay practices and a pay-for-performance culture. In addition to base salary, all our employees are eligible to participate in
our annual cash bonus plan or in our sales commission plan. We also have a broad-based discretionary equity incentive program and an employee stock
purchase plan, which enable employees to participate in our success.

We also believe there should be equity across the entire talent ecosystem – from hiring through career advancement. To achieve that, we continue to
build and scale equitable people practices that foster inclusive and fair outcomes for all employees. This includes pay equity. Because pay equity is so
dynamic at a high-growth company like ours, we manage it on an ongoing basis and do regular analyses and adjustments, as warranted. We are proud that
our process led us to continue to maintain systematic pay equity as of September 1, 2023, our latest company-wide analysis, and helps ensure that we
maintain pay equity on an ongoing basis.

Wellbeing and New Ways of Working

ServiceNow is committed to supporting wellbeing for employees at work and in their personal lives. Our standard, comprehensive benefits package
covers many physical, emotional and financial wellness programs. We also offer our employees additional time-off with “Wellbeing Days” to further
support their health and wellness.

Further, we embrace ways of working that promote flexibility, inclusion and drive innovation. A substantial portion of our employees work partially
or fully remote. This provides those employees flexibility to organize their schedules, which enables us to attract, recruit and retain the best talent. We
believe such an environment will only serve to strengthen our company.

Workforce Metrics

As of December 31, 2023, we employed 22,668 people on a full-time basis, 11,797 in the United States and 10,871 internationally. None of our U.S.
employees are represented by a labor union. Employees in certain countries are represented by workers’ councils or employee representatives or have the
benefits of collective bargaining arrangements at the national and/or sector level. We have not experienced interruptions of operations or work stoppages
due to labor disagreements.
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Available Information

You can obtain copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and other filings with
the SEC, and all amendments to these filings, free of charge from our website at www.servicenow.com/company/investor-relations/sec-filings.html as soon
as reasonably practicable after we file or furnish them with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The contents of, or accessible through, these
websites are not incorporated into this filing. Our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Investors and others should note that we announce material financial information to our investors using our investor relations website
(https://www.servicenow.com/company/investor-relations.html), SEC filings, press releases, public conference calls and webcasts. We use these channels,
including our website and social media, to communicate with our investors and the public about our company, our products and solutions and other issues.
It is possible that the information we post on social media could be deemed to be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media and
others interested in our company to review the information we make available on our website and the social media channels listed on our website.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risks. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other information in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an investment decision. The occurrence of any of the following risks, or additional risks and uncertainties
not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations or cause our stock price to decline. The following risks have been grouped by categories and are not in order of significance or probability of
occurrence.

Risk Factors Summary

This summary provides an overview of the risks we face and should not be considered a substitute for the more fulsome risk factors discussed immediately
following this summary.

• Risks Related to Our Ability to Grow Our Business
• Laws, regulations and customer expectations regarding the use, storage and movement of data may restrict our ability to continue to optimize our

platform and adversely affect our business.
• We participate in intensely competitive markets, and if we do not compete effectively, our business and operating results will be harmed.
• If we fail to innovate in response to rapidly evolving technological and market developments and customer needs, our competitive position and

business prospects may be harmed.
• If we are unsuccessful in increasing our penetration of international markets or managing the risks associated with foreign markets, our business

and operating results will be adversely affected.
• We rely on our network of partners for an increasing portion of our revenues, and if these partners fail to perform, our ability to sell and distribute

our products may be impacted, and our operating results and growth rate may be harmed.
• Doing business with the public sector and heavily-regulated entities subjects us to risks related to government procurement processes, regulations

and contracting requirements.
• If we fail to comply with applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, export control laws, economic and trade sanctions laws, or other global

trade laws, we could be subject to penalties and civil and/or criminal sanctions and our business could be materially adversely affected.
• Targeting larger enterprise customers may result in longer and more expensive sales cycles, increased pricing pressure and implementation and

configuration challenges.
• As we acquire or invest in companies and technologies, we may not realize the expected business or financial benefits and the acquisitions and

investments may divert our management’s attention and result in additional shareholder dilution.

• Risks Related to the Operation of Our Business
• Actual or perceived cybersecurity events experienced by us or our third-party service providers may create the perception that our platform is not

secure, and we may lose customers or incur significant liabilities, which would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
• If we lose key members of our management team or qualified employees or are unable to attract and retain the employees we need, our costs may

increase and our business and operating results may be adversely affected.
• Delays in the release of, or actual or perceived defects in, our products may slow the adoption of our latest technologies, reduce our ability to

efficiently provide services, decrease customer satisfaction, and adversely impact future product sales.
• Disruptions or defects in our services could damage our customers’ businesses, subject us to substantial liability and harm our reputation and

financial results.
• Delays in improving our information systems and processes could interfere with our ability to support our existing and growing customer and

employee base and could adversely impact our business.
• Lawsuits by third parties that allege we infringe their intellectual property rights could harm our business and operating results.
• Our intellectual property protections may not provide us with a competitive advantage, and defending our intellectual property may result in

substantial expenses that harm our operating results.
• Our use of open-source software could harm our ability to sell our products and services and subject us to possible litigation.
• Various factors, including our customers’ business, integration, migration, compliance and security requirements, or errors by us, our partners, or

our customers, may cause implementations of our products to be delayed, inefficient or otherwise unsuccessful.
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• Our failure or perceived failure to achieve our ESG goals or maintain ESG practices that meet evolving stakeholder expectations could adversely
affect us.

• Natural disasters, including climate change, and other events beyond our control could harm our business.

• Risks Related to the Financial Performance or Financial Position of Our Business
• Because we generally recognize revenues from our subscription service over the subscription term, a decrease in new subscriptions or renewals

may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.
• As our business grows, we expect our revenue growth rate to decline over the long term.
• Changes in our effective tax rate or disallowance of our tax positions may adversely affect our financial position and results.
• Our debt service obligations may adversely affect our financial condition.

• Risks Related to General Economic Conditions
• Global economic conditions may harm our industry, business and results of operations.
• Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations could harm our financial results.

• Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
• Our stock price is likely to continue to be volatile and could subject us to litigation.
• Provisions in our governing documents, Delaware law or 2030 Notes might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control or changes in our

management and, therefore, depress our stock price.

Risks Related to Our Ability to Grow Our Business

Laws, regulations and customer expectations regarding the use, storage and movement of data may restrict our ability to continue to optimize our
platform and adversely affect our business.

Governments have adopted, and likely will continue to adopt, laws and regulations affecting the use, storage and movement of data, including laws
related to data privacy and security, the use of machine learning and artificial intelligence (“AI”), and data sovereignty or residency requirements. Changing
laws, regulations and standards applying to the collection, storage, use, sharing, portability, transfer or other control or processing of data, including
personal data, could affect our ability to efficiently and cost-effectively offer our services and to develop our products and services for maximum utility, as
well as our customers’ ability to use data or share data. Such changes may restrict our ability to use, store or otherwise process customer data in connection
with providing services and could alter or increase our compliance requirements. In some cases, this could impact our ability to offer our services in certain
locations or our customers’ ability to deploy our services globally. For example, the EU Data Act is a proposed law with potential significant requirements
regarding data portability, interoperability and accessibility and unclear data transfer restrictions, any of which could impact our operations. In addition,
although the new Trans-Atlantic Data Privacy Framework (which replaced the prior Privacy Shield) has been approved, which could facilitate the transfer
of data between the United States (“U.S.”) and European Union (“EU”), there remains a possibility that this framework could be challenged in court.

As we continue to innovate and improve the offerings on our platform by leveraging machine learning and AI, our business model may be affected by
global trends and laws that regulate the use of AI and machine learning. Such laws or regulations not only may cause us to modify our data handling
practices, which could be costly or burdensome, it also may impact our ability to use certain data for developing our products or impede customers
regulated by such laws and regulations to adopt our products. In addition, we may become subject to new or heightened legal, ethical or other challenges
arising out of the perceived or actual impact of AI on human rights, intellectual property, privacy, and employment, among other issues, and we may
experience brand or reputational harm, legal liability or increased costs associated with those issues.

We offer region-specific services, by which customer data is hosted locally and customers may elect to receive support from locally based
ServiceNow teams. Setting up and maintaining these region-specific services require significant investment, including to comply with applicable laws and
regulations. Actual or perceived non-compliance with those laws and regulations could result in proceedings or investigations against us by regulatory
authorities or others, lead to significant fines, damages, orders, litigation or reputational harm and may otherwise adversely impact our business, financial
condition and operating results.

We will also need to continually adapt to customer privacy and security requirements as they change over time. For example, as customers
increasingly adopt a hybrid (on-premises and off-premises/hyperscale cloud) approach for their IT workloads, our cloud services may fail to address
evolving customer requirements, including data localization. Further, due to heightened concerns relating to privacy and security regulatory matters, our
customers may request certain certifications and failure to obtain, or consistently maintain, those certifications may adversely impact our reputation and
business.
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We participate in intensely competitive markets, and if we do not compete effectively, our business and operating results will be harmed.

The markets for our enterprise cloud solutions are rapidly evolving and highly competitive, with relatively low barriers to entry. As the market for
digital workflow products and offerings matures and new technologies, in-house solutions and competitors enter the market, we increasingly compete with
alternative solutions and approaches to solve customer needs or experience customer reluctance or unwillingness to migrate away from their current
solutions. Further, we expect additional competition as we shift our products and services to compete with providers in adjacent markets.

Some of our existing competitors and potential competitors are larger and have greater name recognition, the ability to more efficiently scale their
business, more established operations and customer relationships, and greater financial and technical resources than we do. Competitors, regardless of their
size, may be able to respond more quickly and effectively to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards, customer requirements and buying
practices. They may introduce new technology, solve similar problems in different ways or more effectively utilize existing technology that reduces
demand for our services. They may utilize acquisitions, integrations or consolidations to offer integrated or bundled products, enhanced functionality or
other advantages. “Systems of record” operators may attempt to create technology solutions or other mechanisms that would prevent our systems from
integrating with theirs. They may create pricing pressures by reducing the price of competing products, services or subscriptions or bundling their offerings
causing our offerings to appear relatively more expensive. In addition, competition from cloud-based vendors may increase as they partner with on-
premises hardware providers to deliver their cloud platform as an on-premises or data localized solution. If we are not able to compete successfully, we
could experience reduced sales and margins, losses or failure of our products to achieve or maintain market acceptance, any of which could harm our
business.

If we fail to innovate in response to rapidly evolving technological and market developments and customer needs, our competitive position and business
prospects may be harmed.

We compete in markets that continue to evolve rapidly. The pace of innovation will continue to accelerate as customers recognize the advantages of
acquiring leading digital technologies and adopting modern cloud-based infrastructure. As digital transformation accelerates across a customer’s enterprise,
cutting-edge capabilities such as AI, machine learning, hyper automation, low-code/no-code application development, system observability and predictive
insights become increasingly relevant to the customer’s evolving needs. Accordingly, to compete effectively, we must:

• identify and innovate in the right technologies;
• keep pace with rapidly changing technological developments, such as AI, which may disrupt talent needs and the enterprise software marketplace;
• accurately predict our customers’ changing digital transformation needs, priorities and adoption practices, including their technology

infrastructures and buying and budgetary practices;
• invest in and continually optimize our own technology platform so that we continue to meet the very high-performance expectations of our

customers;
• successfully deliver new, scalable technologies and products to meet customer needs and priorities;
• efficiently integrate with technologies within our customers’ digital environments;
• expand our offerings into industries and to buyers who are not familiar with our offerings;
• profitably and efficiently market and sell products in markets where our sales and marketing teams have less experience;
• successfully adapt new pricing models;
• effectively secure our platform, data and customers’ data; and
• effectively deliver, directly or through our partner ecosystem, the digital transformation process planning, IT systems architecture planning, and

product implementation services that our customers require to be successful.

Further, in response to evolving customer needs, we may make significant investments in changing how we offer our products or services, such as
bundling offerings or shifting to a subscription-based model for support services or how our services are delivered or priced. If customers are dissatisfied
with these changes, our business could be materially adversely impacted.

If we are unsuccessful in increasing our penetration of international markets or managing the risks associated with foreign markets, our business and
operating results will be adversely affected.

Sales outside of North America represented 36% and 35% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
growth of our business and future prospects depend on our ability to increase our sales outside of the U.S. as a percentage of our total revenues.
Additionally, operating in international markets requires significant investment and management attention and subjects us to varying regulatory, political
and economic risks. We
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have made, and will continue to make, substantial investments in data centers, geographic-specific service delivery models, advisory councils, cloud
computing infrastructure, sales, marketing, partnership arrangements, personnel and facilities in new geographic markets. When we make these
investments, it is typically unclear when we will see a return on our investment, and we may significantly underestimate the level of investment and time
required to be successful. Our rate of acquisition of new large enterprise customers, a factor affecting our growth, has been generally lower in territories
where we are less established and where there may be heightened or evolving regulations and operational and IP risks. We have experienced, and may
continue to experience, difficulties in new geographic markets, including hiring qualified sales management personnel, penetrating the target market, and
managing local operations. Risks associated with making our products and services available in international markets include, for example:

• compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations;
• requirements to have local partner(s), local entity ownership limitations or technology transfer or sharing requirements, or to comply with data

residency and transfer laws and regulations, privacy and data protection laws and regulations, which may increase operational costs and
restrictions;

• the possibility that illegal or unethical activities of our local employees or business partners will be attributed to us or cause us harm;
• longer and potentially more complex sales and accounts receivable payment cycles and other collection difficulties;
• different pricing and distribution environments;
• potential changes in international trade policies, tariffs, agreements and practices, including the adoption and expansion of formal or informal

trade restrictions or regulatory frameworks that may favor local competitors;
• governmental direction, business practices and/or cultural norms that may favor local competitors;
• more prevalent cybersecurity and intellectual property risks; and
• localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses.

If we are unable to manage these risks, our revenue growth rate, business and operating results will be adversely affected.

We rely on our network of partners for an increasing portion of our revenues, and if these partners fail to perform, our ability to sell and distribute our
products may be impacted, and our operating results and growth rate may be harmed.

An increasing portion of our revenues is generated by sales through our network of partners, including managed service providers and resellers.
Increasingly, we and our customers rely on our partners to provide professional services, including custom implementations, and there may be insufficient
qualified implementation partners available to meet customer demand. While we provide our partners with training and programs, including accreditations
and certifications, these programs may not be effective or utilized consistently by partners. In addition, new partners may require extensive training and/or
significant time and resources to become productive. Changes to our direct go-to-market models may cause friction with our partners. The actions of our
partners may subject us to potential liability and reputational harm if, for example, any of our partners misrepresent to our customers the functionality of
our platform or products, fail to perform services to our customers’ expectations, or violate laws or our corporate policies. In addition, our partners may use
our platform to develop products and services that compete with our products and services, which could raise IP ownership concerns and strain these
partnerships. If we fail to effectively manage and grow our network of partners, our ability to sell our products and efficiently provide our services may be
impacted, and our operating results and growth rate may be harmed.

Doing business with the public sector and heavily-regulated entities subjects us to risks related to government procurement processes, regulations and
contracting requirements.

We provide products and services to governmental and heavily-regulated entities directly and through our partners. We have made, and may continue
to make, significant investments to support our efforts to sell to those entities. Processes to obtain authorizations and certifications required for us to
provide our products and services to those entities often are lengthy and encounter delays, and we may not be able to satisfy, or maintain compliance with,
the associated requirements.

A substantial majority of our sales to government entities in the U.S. have been made indirectly through our distributors, resellers or service provider
partners. Doing business with government entities presents a variety of risks. The procurement process for governments and their agencies is highly
competitive and time-consuming, may be subject to political influence and may involve different rules and conditions on the offering or pricing of products
and services. We incur significant up-front time and expense without any assurance that we (or a third-party distributor, reseller or service provider) will
win a contract. Beyond this, demand for our products and services may be adversely impacted by public sector budgetary cycles and funding availability
that in any given fiscal cycle may be reduced or delayed, including in connection with an extended federal government shutdown, partisan gridlock or
changes to government policy. Further, if we or our partners are successful in receiving a contract award, that award could be challenged during a bid
protest process.
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Bid protests may result in an increase in expenses related to obtaining contract awards or an unfavorable modification or loss of an award. Even if a bid
protest were unsuccessful, the delay in the startup and funding of the work under these contracts may cause our actual results to differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated.

Our customers also include non-U.S. governments, to which government procurement risks similar to those present in U.S. government contracting
and regulatory compliance also apply, particularly in certain emerging markets where our customer base is less established. We have seen challenges to
successful awards through bid protest procedures in jurisdictions outside the U.S. As our non-U.S. government business grows, we may see an increase in
bid protests as part of the standard government procurement legal procedures that exist in many jurisdictions. In addition, compliance with complex
regulations and contracting provisions in a variety of jurisdictions can be expensive and consume significant management resources. In certain
jurisdictions, our ability to win business may be constrained by political and other factors unrelated to our competitive position in the market. Each of these
difficulties could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

In addition, public sector customers may have contractual, statutory or regulatory rights to terminate current contracts with us or our third-party
distributors or resellers for convenience or due to a default, though such risk may be assumed by such third-party distributor or reseller. If a contract is
terminated for convenience, we may only be able to collect fees for products or services delivered prior to termination and settlement expenses. If a
contract is terminated due to a default, we may be liable for excess costs incurred by the customer for procuring alternative products or services or be
precluded from doing further business with governmental entities. Further, we are required to comply with a variety of complex laws, regulations, and
contractual provisions relating to the formation, administration, or performance of government contracts that give public sector customers substantial rights
and remedies, many of which are not typically found in commercial contracts. These may also include rights with respect to price protection, refund and
setoff, performance of services in languages other than English, the accuracy of information provided to the government, contractor compliance with
supplier diversity policies, constraints on sales practices and other obligations that are particular to government contracts. These obligations may apply to
us and/or our third-party resellers or distributors whose practices we may not control. Such parties’ non-compliance could create contractual and customer
satisfaction issues.

In addition, governments routinely investigate and audit contractors for compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements. If it is determined
that we have failed to comply with these requirements, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including
termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, cost associated with the triggering of price reduction clauses, fines, and suspensions or debarment from future
government business, all of which may cause us to suffer reputational harm and adversely affect our business and operating results.

Further, we are increasingly doing business in heavily regulated industries, such as financial services, telecommunication, media and television, and
health care. Current and prospective customers in those industries may be required to comply with more stringent regulations to subscribe to and/or
implement our services. In addition, regulatory agencies may impose requirements on third-party vendors that we may not meet. Further, customers in these
heavily-regulated industries often have a right to conduct audits of our systems, products and practices. If one or more customers determine that some
aspect of our business does not meet regulatory requirements, our ability to continue or expand our business with those customers may be restricted.

If we fail to comply with applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, export control laws, economic and trade sanctions laws, or other global trade
laws, we could be subject to penalties and civil and/or criminal sanctions and our business could be materially adversely affected.

As we continue to expand our business internationally, we will inevitably do more business with large private enterprises and the public sector in
countries outside of the U.S. Increased business in countries with heightened levels of corruption subjects us and our officers and directors to increased
scrutiny and potential liability from our business operations. We have an established compliance program, but there is a risk that our employees, partners,
customers and agents, as well as those companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, could violate our policies and applicable law,
exposing us to additional scrutiny and potential liability. We have experienced this in the past and may experience it again in the future. In addition, we are
subject to global trade laws that apply to our worldwide operations, including prohibitions or restrictions on conducting business in certain geographies or
involving certain counterparties or end-users. As a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, for example, the U.S. and other countries have imposed economic
and trade sanctions and export control restrictions against Russia and Belarus. If this conflict continues or if conflict arises in other jurisdictions, the U.S.
and other jurisdictions could impose wider economic and trade sanctions as well as export restrictions, which could impact our business opportunities and
operations. Any violation of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the UK Bribery Act, other applicable anti-corruption and anti-
bribery laws, or applicable export control or economic and trade sanctions laws by our employees or third-party intermediaries could
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subject us to significant risks such as adverse media coverage and/or severe criminal or civil sanctions, which could materially adversely affect our
reputation, business, operating results, and prospects.

Targeting larger enterprise customers may result in longer and more expensive sales cycles, increased pricing pressure and implementation and
configuration challenges.

As we target more of our sales efforts at larger enterprise customers, we may face heightened costs, longer sales cycles, greater competition and less
predictability in our ability to close sales. Larger enterprise customers tend to require considerable time evaluating and testing our platform prior to making
a purchasing decision, require multiple levels of review and approval, and demand more configuration, integration services and features, particularly when
switching from legacy on-premises solutions. As a result, these sales opportunities may require us to devote significant sales support and professional
services to a smaller number of larger transactions, diverting those resources from other sales opportunities. If we fail to effectively manage these risks, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be negatively affected.

As we acquire or invest in companies and technologies, we may not realize the expected business or financial benefits and the acquisitions and
investments may divert our management’s attention and result in additional shareholder dilution or costs.

We have acquired and invested in companies and technologies as part of our business strategy and will continue to evaluate and enter into potential
strategic transactions, including acquisitions of or investments in businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets, to expand or improve our
service offerings and functionality, go-to-market and sales efforts, our operations or our ability to source necessary expertise and provide services in
international locations. Although we conduct reasonably extensive due diligence regarding these businesses and assets, our efforts may not reveal every
material issue. Strategic transactions involve numerous risks, including:

• difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, products, personnel or operations of the acquired companies;
• failing to achieve the expected benefits of the acquisition or investment;
• potential loss of employees of the acquired company;
• inability to maintain relationships with customers, suppliers and partners of the acquired business;
• potential adverse tax consequences;
• disruption to our business and diversion of management attention and other resources;
• potential financial, credit or regulatory risks associated with acquired customers, suppliers and partners of the acquired business;
• dependence on acquired technologies or licenses for which alternatives may not be available to us or which may involve significant cost or

complexity;
• in the case of foreign acquisitions, the challenges associated with integrating operations across different cultures, languages, and legal regimes and

any currency and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;
• introducing increased complexity and burden to maintain the technology platform;
• introducing vulnerabilities or threats by integrating acquired technologies or businesses;
• data security or privacy risks, compliance requirements, or integration costs from the acquired technology or company;
• impairment of our investments or the possibility our investees will be unable to obtain future funding on favorable terms or at all; and
• potential unknown liabilities or disputes associated with the acquired businesses.

In addition, the amount or form of consideration we pay for acquisitions could adversely affect our financial condition or stock price. For example, if
we finance an acquisition by issuing equity or convertible debt securities or loans, our existing shareholders may be diluted, or we could face constraints
related to the terms of those securities or indebtedness. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Risks Related to the Operation of Our Business

Actual or perceived cybersecurity events experienced by us or our third-party service providers may create the perception that our platform is not
secure, and we may lose customers or incur significant liabilities, which would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.

In the ordinary course of our business, we store, transmit, generate, and process our and our customers’ confidential, proprietary and sensitive data.
As our business expands across the globe, the number of employees, contractors, vendors and other third parties remotely accessing our systems continues
to grow. Our growing business operations increase our exposure to cyberattacks by a range of actors, who have used and will continue to use assorted
tactics, techniques, and
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procedures, including malicious code, ransomware, social engineering, business email compromises, supply chain attacks, denial of service attacks and
similar internet-enabled, fraudulent activity. Further, during times of war and other major conflicts, we and our third-party providers may be vulnerable to a
heightened risk of geopolitically motivated attacks, including cyberattacks, that could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain and
ability to provide our services.

The cybersecurity threats are not limited to actors operating in the systems we control directly. Our increasing reliance on third-party providers and
public cloud infrastructure introduces new cybersecurity risks to our business operations. We rely on third-party service providers and technologies to
operate business systems in a variety of contexts, and supply chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity. While we have a vendor security
review process, we cannot guarantee that our third-party service providers or our supply chain infrastructure have not been compromised or that they do not
contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our platform, systems and network or the systems and networks of third
parties that support us and our business. Our ability to monitor the data security measures of our third-party providers is limited, and we necessarily depend
in part on our providers to have in place and maintain adequate security measures to protect against unauthorized access, cyberattacks and the mishandling
of data. Further, employee error or malfeasance in configuring, maintaining and using these services could impact our ability to monitor and secure them
effectively.

While we have identified vulnerabilities in our products and services in the past and will continue to do so in the future, we cannot be certain that we
will be able to identify all vulnerabilities or address the vulnerabilities of which we become aware. Further, there have been delays and may continue to be
delays in developing patches that can be effectively deployed to address vulnerabilities. Third parties have, in the past, actively searched for and exploited
actual and potential vulnerabilities in our software and will do so in the future. Moreover, the incorporation of third-party or open-source software code into
our or our customers’ systems increases the risk of exploitation of vulnerabilities, such as the vulnerability in the Java logging library known as “log4j” that
affected our industry. We also have inherited and may in the future inherit additional security risks from acquiring or partnering with other companies.

In most instances, our customers are responsible for administering access to the data held in their particular instance for their employees and service
providers. While our software is delivered with certain preset configurations, we understand that our customers require flexibility to configure the Now
Platform to their specific business needs. We work closely with our customers to help them evaluate their security configurations, including providing
guidance to align configuration settings with their business needs. Yet, in configuring our platform, both our employees and customers have made errors in
the past and may do so again in the future. We are aware that, on occasion, our customers and ServiceNow have configured certain settings on our platform,
or retained preset configurations, in a manner not aligned with their preferred security levels, which can result in, and has resulted in, information being
made more widely accessible than intended. Such misconfigurations can be, and have been, identified publicly, increasing the risk of data being exposed
unintentionally.

While we have security measures and a data governance framework in place designed to protect our and our customers’ information and prevent data
loss, these measures may not be effective at preventing material breaches caused by intentional or unintentional actions or inactions by employees,
contractors or third parties. Techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to systems are constantly evolving and may go undetected until a
successful attack occurs. Moreover, we have experienced security incidents, which may reoccur in the future, that resulted in unauthorized access to, loss,
or inadvertent disclosure of confidential, proprietary and sensitive information. We have observed attempts by third parties to induce or deceive our
employees, contractors or users to fraudulently obtain access to our or our customers’ data or assets. Further, our employees have fallen victim to phishing
attacks in the past and may again in the future.

An actual or perceived security breach can have a material effect on ServiceNow’s operations, finances and reputation. The adverse consequences can
include accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorized disclosure of or access to data; disruptions to our services; diversion of funds;
litigation; indemnification and other contractual obligations; regulatory investigations; government fines and penalties; reputational damage; negative
publicity; loss of sales, customers, and partners; mitigation and remediation expenses; and other material costs and liabilities. In addition, the assessment
and response to security incidents, as well as implementation of appropriate safeguards to protect against future incidents, can lead to material economic
and operational consequences. These consequences can result regardless of whether the incident is suffered by us, affects our third-party service providers
or stems from customers action or inaction. Moreover, even if a breach is unrelated to our security programs or practices, it could still cause us reputational
harm and require us to undertake significant efforts to assess and respond to the breach, including further protecting our customers from their own
vulnerabilities. There can be no assurance that any limitations of liability provisions in our subscription agreements, terms of use or other agreements
would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. In addition, while
we maintain insurance coverage, we cannot be certain that such coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or
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in sufficient amounts to cover potential losses from a security incident or that an insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

If we lose key members of our management team or qualified employees or are unable to attract and retain the employees we need, our costs may
increase and our business and operating results may be adversely affected.

There is increasingly intense competition for talent in the technology industry. Our success depends substantially upon the continued services of our
management team, particularly our chief executive officer, chief operating officer and the other members of our executive staff. From time to time in the
ordinary course of business, there have been and may continue to be changes in our management team. While we seek to manage these transitions
carefully, such changes may result in a loss of institutional knowledge and negatively affect our business.

In the highly competitive technology industry, we face ongoing challenges in attracting and retaining top talent across various roles, such as product
development and engineering (particularly with AI and machine learning backgrounds), sales, operations and cybersecurity. These key individual
contributors are critical to our success and can command very significant compensation in the market. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth
may depend on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient qualified personnel to support our growth. We have faced and may continue to
face difficulties attracting, hiring and retaining highly-skilled, qualified personnel and may not be able to fill positions in desired geographic areas or at all.
Further, as we continue to grow and expand our workforce globally, we may face operational and workplace culture challenges that could negatively
impact our ability to maintain the effectiveness of our business execution and the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture. While our work model, where
a substantial portion of our employees work partially or fully remote, increased our access to talent, we may not be able to take advantage of a broader
talent pool if our competitors offer the same work model or if we continue to lean heavily on our primary operating locations for talent. We are continually
evaluating and, as appropriate, enhancing the attractiveness of our compensation packages. As a result, we have experienced and may continue to
experience increased costs that may not be offset by either improved productivity or higher sales, potentially resulting in a reduction in our profitability. In
addition, we grant equity awards to our employees and sustained declines in our stock price or lower stock price performance relative to our competitors
reduces the retention value of such awards, which can impact the competitiveness of our compensation. Many of our employees, including all of our
executive officers, are employed “at-will” and may terminate their employment with us at any time. If we fail to attract qualified, new personnel or fail to
retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.

Delays in the release of, or actual or perceived defects in, our products may slow the adoption of our latest technologies, reduce our ability to efficiently
provide services, decrease customer satisfaction, and adversely impact future product sales.

We must successfully continue to release new products and updates to existing products. The success of any release depends on a number of factors,
including our ability to manage the risks associated with actual or perceived quality or other defects or deficiencies, delays in the timing of releases or the
adoption of releases by customers, and other complications that may arise during the early stages of introducing our products. If releases are delayed or if
customers perceive that our releases contain bugs or other defects or are difficult to implement, customer adoption of our new products or updates may be
adversely impacted, customer satisfaction may decrease, our ability to efficiently provide our services may be reduced, and our growth prospects may be
harmed.

Disruptions or defects in our services could damage our customers’ businesses, subject us to substantial liability and harm our reputation and financial
results.

Our business depends on our platform to be available without disruption. From time to time, we experience defects, disruptions, outages and other
performance and quality problems with our platform. New defects may be detected in the future and may arise from our increasing use of the public cloud.
For example, we provide regular updates to our services, which can contain undetected defects. Defects may also be introduced by our use of third-party
software, including open-source software. Disruptions may result from errors we make in developing, delivering, configuring or hosting our services, or
designing, installing, expanding or maintaining our cloud infrastructure. Disruptions in service can also result from incidents that are outside of our control,
including denial of service or ransomware attacks. We currently serve our customers primarily using equipment managed by us and co-located in third-
party data centers operated by several different providers located around the world, and we serve certain of our customers that are primarily in highly
regulated markets, using data center facilities operated by public cloud service providers. These data centers are vulnerable to damage or interruption from
earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, energy grid constraints resulting in power loss and similar events. They may also be subject to break-ins, sabotage,
intentional acts of vandalism and similar misconduct, equipment failure and adverse events caused by operator error or negligence. In addition, an
increased use of the public cloud increases our vulnerability to cyberattacks. Despite precautions taken at these centers, problems at these centers have
occurred, resulting

20



Table of Contents

in interruptions in our services. Such problems could occur again and result in similar or lengthier service interruptions and the loss of customer data. In
addition, our customers may use our services in ways that cause disruptions in service for other customers. In addition to data center providers, we also
have a large ecosystem of vendors and service providers that we use for our products. If there is a compromise to data, supply chain issue or other incident
with our critical service providers, it may impact our ability to provide our services and reduce our productivity. Our customers use our services to manage
important aspects of their businesses, and our reputation and business will be adversely affected if our customers and potential customers believe our
services are unreliable. Disruptions or defects in our services may reduce our revenues, cause us to issue credits or pay penalties, subject us to claims and
litigation, cause our customers to delay payment or terminate or fail to renew their subscriptions, and adversely affect our ability to attract new customers.
Similarly, customers may have unique requirements for system resiliency and performance depending on their business models and customers in highly
regulated markets may have more demanding requirements that we may not be able to, or may not choose to, meet. The occurrence of payment delays,
service credit, warranty or termination for material breach or other claims against us could result in an increase in our bad debt expense, an increase in
collection cycles, an increase to our service level credit accruals, other increased expenses or risks of litigation. We may not have insurance sufficient to
compensate us for potentially significant losses that may result from claims arising from disruptions to our services.

Delays in improving our information systems and processes could interfere with our ability to support our existing and growing customer and employee
base and could adversely impact our business.

We rely on our information systems and those of third parties to operate and scale our business. We have made and continue to make investments to
improve our information system infrastructure to support the needs of our growing customer and employee base, increase productivity, develop and
enhance our services, expand into new geographic areas, and scale with our overall growth. Such improvements are often complex, costly, and time
consuming. If implementation of such improvements are delayed, or if we encounter unforeseen problems with our new systems and processes or in
migrating away from our existing systems and processes, our operations and our ability to manage our business could be negatively impacted as we may
experience disruptions in our business operations, loss of customers, loss of revenue, or damage to our reputation, all of which could harm our business
plan to successfully scale our operations and increase productivity.

Lawsuits by third parties that allege we infringe their intellectual property rights could harm our business and operating results.

There is considerable patent and other IP development activity and claims and related litigation regarding patent and IP rights in our industry. Our
competitors, other third parties, including practicing entities and non-practicing entities, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets, which they may use and have used to assert claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of IP rights against us. Moreover, the
patent portfolios of many of our competitors and other third parties are larger than ours. This disparity may increase the risk that our competitors or other
third parties may sue us for patent infringement and may limit our ability to counterclaim for patent infringement or settle through patent cross-licenses. We
have recorded material charges for legal settlements of such claims in the past. In any IP litigation, regardless of the scope or merit, we may incur
substantial costs and attorney’s fees and, if the claims are successfully asserted against us and we are found to be infringing upon, misappropriating or
otherwise violating the IP rights of others, we could be required to pay substantial damages and/or make substantial ongoing royalty payments; comply
with an injunction and cease offering or modify our products and services; comply with other unfavorable terms, including settlement terms; and indemnify
our customers and business partners, obtain costly licenses on their behalf, and/or refund fees or other payments previously paid to us. Further, upon
expiration of the term of any agreements that allow us to use third-party IP, we may be unable to renew such agreements on favorable terms, if at all, in
which case we may face IP litigation. In addition, our subscription agreements generally require us to defend our customers against claims that our
technology infringes the intellectual property rights of third parties. The mere existence of any lawsuit, or any interim or final outcomes, and the public
statements related to it (or absence of such statements) by the press, analysts and litigants could be unsettling to our customers and prospective customers.
This could adversely impact our customer satisfaction and related renewal rates, cause us to lose potential sales, and could also be unsettling to investors or
prospective investors and cause a substantial decline in our stock price. Any claim or litigation against us could be costly, time-consuming and divert the
attention of management and key personnel from our business operations and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our intellectual property protections may not provide us with a competitive advantage, and defending our intellectual property may result in substantial
expenses that harm our operating results.

Our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our brand under patent, copyright, trademark,
trade secret and other IP protections in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. The IP protection we have for our technology may not provide sufficient protection,
and any IP acquired in the future may not provide
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competitive advantages or other value. In addition, our IP may be contested, circumvented, found unenforceable or invalidated, and we may not be able to
prevent third parties from infringing upon them. Further, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of IP rights vary.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or obtain and use, or may have copied or obtained and
used, our technology to develop products and services that provide features and functionality similar to ours. Policing unauthorized use of our IP and
technology is difficult. Our competitors could also independently develop services equivalent to ours, and our IP rights may not be broad enough for us to
prevent competitors from utilizing their developments to compete with us. Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our
proprietary technology could enable third parties to benefit from our technology without paying us for it, which would significantly harm our business.

Our IP rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative proceedings or litigation. Effective patent, trademark, copyright and
trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which we offer services. The laws of some foreign countries may not offer effective
protection for, or be as protective of, IP rights as those in the U.S., and mechanisms for enforcement of IP rights or available remedies may be inadequate,
ineffective or scarce. Additionally, the IP ownership and license rights of new technologies such as AI have not been fully addressed by U.S. courts
interpreting current and new laws or regulations, and the use or adoption of such technologies in our products and services may expose us to potential
intellectual property claims; breach of a data license, software license, or website terms of service allegations; claimed violations of privacy rights; and
other tort claims. If such laws or regulations require increased transparency, it may impair protection of our trade secrets or other IP. We may be required to
spend significant resources to monitor and protect our IP rights. We have initiated and, in the future, may initiate claims or litigation against third parties for
infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary rights or to establish the validity of our proprietary rights. Any litigation, whether or not resolved in our
favor, could result in significant expense to us, divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel and may result in counterclaims with respect to
infringement or misappropriation of IP rights by us. If we are unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our IP rights or are
required to incur substantial expenses defending our IP rights, our business and operating results may be adversely affected.

Our use of open-source software could harm our ability to sell our products and services and subject us to possible litigation.

Our products incorporate software licensed to us by third-party authors under open-source licenses, and we expect to continue to incorporate open-
source software into our products and services in the future. We monitor our use of open-source software in an effort to avoid subjecting our products and
services to adverse licensing conditions. However, there can be no assurance that our efforts have been or will be successful. There is little or no legal
precedent governing the interpretation of the terms of open-source licenses, and therefore the potential impact of these terms on our business is uncertain
and enforcement of these terms may result in unanticipated obligations regarding our products and services. For example, depending on which open-source
license governs certain open-source software included within our products and services, we may be subjected to conditions requiring us to offer our
products and services to users at no cost; make available the source code for modifications and derivative works based upon, incorporating or using such
open-source software; and license such modifications or derivative works under the terms of the particular open-source license. Moreover, if an author or
other third party that distributes such open-source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of one or more of these licenses, we
could be required to incur significant legal costs defending ourselves against such allegations, be subject to significant damages or be enjoined from
distributing our products and services.

Various factors, including our customers’ business, integration, migration, compliance and security requirements, or errors by us, our partners, or our
customers, may cause implementations of our products to be delayed, inefficient or otherwise unsuccessful.

Our business depends upon the successful implementation of our products by our customers either through us or our partners. Further, our customers’
business, integration, migration, compliance and security requirements, or errors by us, our partners, or our customers, or other factors may cause
implementations to be delayed, inefficient or otherwise unsuccessful. As a result of these and other risks, we or our customers may incur significant
implementation costs in connection with the purchase, implementation and enablement of our products. Some customer implementations may take longer
than planned, delay our ability to sell additional products or fail to meet our customers’ expectations, resulting in customers canceling or failing to renew
their subscriptions before our products have been fully implemented. Some customers may lack the internal resources to manage a digital transformation
such as our offering and, as a consequence, may be unable to see the benefits of our products. Unsuccessful, lengthy, or costly implementations and
integrations could
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result in claims from customers, reputational harm, and opportunities for competitors to displace our products, each of which could have an adverse effect
on our business and operating results.

Our failure or perceived failure to achieve our ESG goals or maintain ESG practices that meet evolving stakeholder expectations could adversely affect
us.

We have published environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) initiatives, goals and commitments. Our ability to achieve our objectives is
subject to numerous factors both within and outside of our control. Our failure or perceived failure to achieve some or all of our ESG goals or maintain
ESG practices that meet evolving stakeholder expectations or regulatory requirements could harm our reputation, adversely impact our ability to attract and
retain employees or customers and expose us to increased scrutiny from the investment community, regulatory authorities and others or subject us to
liability. Our reputation also may be harmed by the perceptions that our customers, employees and other stakeholders have about our action or inaction on
ESG issues. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity may reduce demand for our products and services and thus have an adverse effect on our
future financial results or stock price.

Natural disasters, including climate change, and other events beyond our control could harm our business.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may damage or disrupt our operations, international commerce and the global economy, and thus could
have a negative effect on our business. Our business operations are subject to interruption by natural disasters, flooding, fire, extreme heat, power
shortages, pandemics such as COVID-19, terrorism, political unrest, telecommunications failure, vandalism, cyberattacks, geopolitical instability, war, the
effects of climate change and other events beyond our control. While we maintain crisis management and disaster response plans, such planning may not
account for all possible events and the occurrence of such events could make it difficult or impossible for us to deliver our services to our customers, could
decrease demand for our services, and could cause us to incur substantial expense. Our insurance may not be sufficient to cover losses or additional
expenses we may sustain. Although we have backup systems in place, in the event of major natural disasters or catastrophic events, customer data could be
lost, and resumption of operations could require significant time.

We may be subject to increased costs, regulations, reporting requirements, standards or expectations regarding climate change-driven impacts on our
business. While we seek to mitigate our business risks associated with climate change by establishing robust environmental programs as part of our ESG
strategy and partnering with organizations that are focused on mitigating their own climate-related risks, certain of those risks are inherent wherever
business is conducted. Any of our primary locations may be vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change. For example, our California headquarters
have experienced, and may continue to experience, climate-related events at an increasing frequency and severity, including drought, water scarcity, heat
waves, wildfires and air quality impacts and power shutoffs associated with wildfires. Changing market dynamics, global policy developments and
increasing frequency and impact of extreme weather events on critical infrastructure in the U.S. and elsewhere have the potential to disrupt our business,
the business of our customers and third-party suppliers and may cause us to experience higher attrition, losses and additional costs to maintain or resume
operations.

Risks Related to the Financial Performance or Financial Position of Our Business

Because we generally recognize revenues from our subscription service over the subscription term, a decrease in new subscriptions or renewals may
not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenues from customers ratably over the terms of their subscriptions. Net new annual contract value from new subscriptions
and expansion contracts entered into during a period can generally be expected to generate revenues for the duration of the subscription term. As a result, a
significant portion of the revenues we report in each period are derived from the recognition of deferred revenues relating to subscriptions entered into
during previous periods. Consequently, a decrease in new or renewed subscriptions, expansion contracts in any single reporting period will have a limited
impact on our revenues for that period, but they will negatively affect our operating results in future periods. Our subscription model also makes it difficult
for us to rapidly increase our revenues through additional sales in any period, as revenues from new customers are generally recognized over the applicable
subscription term. Also, our ability to adjust our cost structure in the event of a decrease in new or renewed subscriptions may be limited.

As our business grows, we expect our revenue growth rate to decline over the long term.

You should not rely on our prior revenue growth as an indication of our future revenue growth. While we have experienced significant revenue
growth in prior periods, we expect it to decline over the long term due to increasing competition, a decrease in the growth rate of our overall market or
other reasons. We also expect our costs to increase in
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future periods as we continue to invest in our strategic priorities, which may not result in increased revenues or growth in our business.

Changes in our effective tax rate or disallowance of our tax positions may adversely affect our financial position and results.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. We believe that our provision for income taxes is reasonable, but the
ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our consolidated financial statements and may materially affect our financial results in the
period or periods in which such outcome is determined. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in statutory tax rates, changes in the
mix of earnings and losses in countries with differing statutory tax rates, certain non-deductible expenses, the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities
and the effects of acquisitions. Increases in our effective tax rate would reduce our profitability or in some cases increase our losses.

Additionally, our future effective tax rate could be impacted by changes in accounting principles or changes in federal, state or international tax laws
or tax rulings. The U.S. Department of Treasury has broad authority to issue regulations and interpretative guidance that may significantly impact how we
will comply with the law, which could affect our results of operations in the period issued. Many countries are actively considering or have proposed or
enacted changes to their tax laws based on the model rules adopted by The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development defining a 15%
global minimum tax (commonly referred to as Pillar 2) that could increase our tax obligations in countries where we do business or cause us to change the
way we operate our business. Global tax developments applicable to multinational businesses and increased scrutiny under tax examinations could have a
material impact on our business and negatively affect our financial results. Any changes in federal, state or international tax laws or tax rulings may
increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of operations.

In addition, we may be subject to income tax audits by tax jurisdictions throughout the world, many of which have not established clear guidance on
the tax treatment of cloud computing companies. Although we believe our income tax liabilities are reasonably estimated and accounted for in accordance
with applicable laws and principles, an adverse resolution of one or more uncertain tax positions in any period could have a material impact on our results
of operations for that period. Further, many of our most important intangible assets are held outside the U.S. and are subject to inter-company agreements
regarding the development and distribution of those assets to other jurisdictions with potential challenge under permanent establishment or transfer pricing
principles. While we believe that our position is appropriate and well founded, if our position were successfully challenged by taxing authorities in other
jurisdictions, we may become subject to significant tax liabilities, which could harm our financial position and financial results.

Our debt service obligations may adversely affect our financial condition.

Our ability to make payments on, repay or refinance the 2030 Notes in the future will depend on our future performance which is subject to a variety
of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. If we decide to refinance the 2030 Notes, we may be required to do so on different or less
favorable terms or we may be unable to refinance the 2030 Notes at all, both of which may adversely affect our financial condition. Maintenance of our
indebtedness, contractual restrictions, and additional issuances of indebtedness could:

• cause us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows towards debt service obligations and principal repayments;
• increase our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions;
• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;
• impair our ability to obtain future financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate or other purposes; and
• due to limitations within the debt instruments, restrict our ability to grant liens on property, enter into certain mergers, dispose of all or

substantially all of our or our subsidiaries’ assets, taken as a whole, materially change our business or incur subsidiary indebtedness, subject to
customary exceptions.

We are required to comply with the covenants set forth in the indentures governing the 2030 Notes. Our ability to comply with these covenants may
be affected by events beyond our control. If we breach any of the covenants and do not obtain a waiver from the note holders or lenders, then, subject to
applicable cure periods, any outstanding indebtedness may be declared immediately due and payable. In addition, changes by any rating agency to our
credit rating may negatively impact the value and liquidity of our securities. Downgrades in our credit ratings could restrict our ability to obtain additional
financing in the future and could affect the terms of any such financing.
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Risks Related to General Economic Conditions

Global economic conditions may harm our industry, business and results of operations.

We operate globally and as a result, our business, revenues and profitability are impacted by global macroeconomic conditions. The success of our
activities is affected by general economic and market conditions, including, among others, inflation, interest rates, tax rates, foreign exchange rates,
economic downturns, recession, economic uncertainty, political instability, warfare, changes in laws, trade barriers, supply chain disruptions and economic
and trade sanctions. The U.S. capital markets experienced and continue to experience extreme volatility and disruption. Furthermore, inflation rates in the
U.S. and other key markets have recently increased to levels not seen in decades resulting in federal action to increase interest rates, affecting capital
markets. Such economic volatility could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and future market
disruptions could negatively impact us. These unfavorable economic conditions could increase our operating costs and, because our typical contracts with
customers lock in our price for a few years, our profitability could be negatively affected. Geopolitical destabilization and warfare have impacted and may
continue to impact global currency exchange rates, commodity prices, energy markets, trade and movement of resources, which may adversely affect the
buying power of our customers, our access to and cost of resources from our suppliers, and ability to operate or grow our business. In addition, from time to
time, the U.S. and other key international economies have been impacted and may continue to be impacted by geopolitical and economic instability, high
levels of credit defaults, international trade disputes, changes in demand for various goods and services, high levels of persistent unemployment, wage and
income stagnation, restricted credit, poor liquidity, reduced corporate profitability, volatility in credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, inflation,
bankruptcies, international trade agreements, export controls, economic and trade sanctions, health crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic and overall
economic uncertainty. These conditions can arise suddenly and affect the rate of digital transformation spending and could adversely affect our customers’
or prospective customers’ ability or willingness to purchase our services, delay purchasing decisions, reduce the value or duration of their subscriptions, or
affect renewal rates, all of which could harm our operating results.

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations could harm our financial results.

We conduct significant transactions, including revenue transactions and intercompany transactions, in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar or the
functional operating currency of the transactional entities. In addition, our international subsidiaries maintain significant net assets that are denominated in
the functional operating currencies of these entities. Accordingly, changes in the value of currencies relative to the U.S. Dollar have impacted and may
continue to impact our consolidated revenues and operating results due to transactional and translational remeasurement that is reflected in our earnings. It
is particularly difficult to forecast any impact from exchange rate movements, unanticipated currency fluctuations have adversely affected and could
continue to adversely affect our financial results or cause our results to differ from investor expectations or our own guidance in any future periods.
Volatility in exchange rates and global financial markets is expected to continue due to political and economic uncertainty globally.

We use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forwards, to hedge exposures that certain of our balance sheet items have to changes in
foreign currency rates. These hedging contracts have reduced and may continue to reduce, but they have not and cannot entirely eliminate, the impact of
adverse currency exchange rate movements. Further, unanticipated changes in currency exchange rates may result in poorer overall financial performance
than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transactions as we may not be able to establish a perfect correlation between such hedging instruments and
the exposures being hedged.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price is likely to continue to be volatile and could subject us to litigation.

Our stock price is likely to continue to be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, technology companies in general have highly volatile
stock prices, and the volatility in stock price and trading volume of securities is often unrelated or disproportionate to the financial performance of the
companies issuing the securities. Factors affecting our stock price, some of which are beyond our control, include, among other factors:

• changes in the estimates of our operating results, revenue growth, or changes in recommendations by securities analysts;
• changes in the average contract term of our customer agreements, timing of renewals and renewal rates;
• our ability to meet our financial guidance or financial performance expectations of the securities analysts or investors;
• announcements of new products, services or technologies, new applications or enhancements to services, strategic alliances, acquisitions, or other

significant events by us or by our competitors;
• fluctuations in company valuations, such as high-growth or cloud companies, perceived to be comparable to us;
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• changes to our management team;
• trading activity by directors, executive officers and significant shareholders, or the market’s perception that large shareholders intend to sell their

shares;
• the inclusion, exclusion, or removal of our stock from any major trading indices;
• the size of our market float;
• the trading volume of our common stock, including sales following the exercise of outstanding options or vesting of equity awards;
• changes in laws or regulations impacting the delivery of our services;
• significant litigation or regulatory actions;
• the amount and timing of customer payments, payment defaults, operating costs and capital expenditures
• the amount and timing of equity awards and the related financial statement expenses;
• the impact of new accounting pronouncements;
• the inability to conclude that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective;
• our ability to accurately estimate the total addressable market for our products and services; and
• overall performance of the equity markets.

Following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from our business. This could materially
adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Provisions in our governing documents, Delaware law or 2030 Notes might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control or changes in our
management and, therefore, depress our stock price.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress our stock price by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change in
control or changes in our management that our shareholders may deem advantageous. These provisions, among other things:

• permit our board to establish the number of directors;
• provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of 66 2/3% of our shareholders;
• require super-majority voting to amend certain provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;
• authorize issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board could use to implement a shareholder rights plan;
• prohibit shareholder action by written consent, which requires all shareholder actions to be taken at a meeting;
• permit our board to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and
• require advance notice for shareholders to submit director nominations or other business at annual shareholders meetings (although our bylaws

permit shareholders proxy access).

Further, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company. Section 203
imposes certain restrictions on merger, business combinations and other transactions between us and certain shareholders. In addition, the terms of our 2030
Notes may cause a delay or prevent a change in control of our company, as they allow noteholders to require us to repurchase their notes upon the
occurrence of a change in control repurchase event.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM IC. CYBERSECURITY

Cyber criminals are becoming more sophisticated and effective every day, and they are increasingly targeting enterprise software companies. All
companies utilizing technology are subject to threats of breaches of their cybersecurity programs. To mitigate the threat to our business, we take a
comprehensive approach to cybersecurity risk management and make securing the data customers and other stakeholders entrust to us a top priority. Our
board of directors (the “Board”) and our management are actively involved in the oversight of our risk management program, of which cybersecurity
represents an important component. As described in more detail below, we have established policies, standards, processes and practices for assessing,
identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. We have devoted significant financial and personnel resources to implement and
maintain security measures to meet regulatory requirements and customer expectations, and we intend to continue to make significant investments to
maintain the security of our data and cybersecurity infrastructure. There can be no guarantee that our policies and procedures will be properly followed in
every instance or that those policies and procedures will be effective. Although our Risk Factors include further detail about the material cybersecurity risks
we face, we believe that risks from prior cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected
our business to date. We can provide no assurance that there will not be incidents in the future or that they will not materially affect us, including our
business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.

Risk Management and Strategy

Our policies, standards, processes and practices for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into
our overall risk management program and are based on frameworks established by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”), the
International Organization for Standardization and other applicable industry standards. Our cybersecurity program in particular focuses on the following
key areas:

Collaboration

Our cybersecurity risks are identified and addressed through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach. Key security, risk, and compliance
stakeholders meet regularly to develop strategies for preserving the confidentiality, integrity and availability of Company and customer information,
identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats, and effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents. We maintain controls and procedures
that are designed to ensure prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding public disclosure and reporting of such incidents
can be made by management and the Board in a timely manner.

Risk Assessment

At least annually, we conduct a cybersecurity risk assessment that takes into account information from internal stakeholders, known information
security vulnerabilities, and information from external sources (e.g., reported security incidents that have impacted other companies, industry trends, and
evaluations by third parties and consultants). The results of the assessment are used to drive alignment on, and prioritization of, initiatives to enhance our
security controls, make recommendations to improve processes, and inform a broader enterprise-level risk assessment that is presented to our Board, Audit
Committee and members of management.

Technical Safeguards

We regularly assess and deploy technical safeguards designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats. Such safeguards are
regularly evaluated and improved based on vulnerability assessments, cybersecurity threat intelligence and incident response experience.

Incident Response and Recovery Planning

We have established comprehensive incident response and recovery plans and continue to regularly test and evaluate the effectiveness of those plans.
Our incident response and recovery plans address — and guide our employees, management and the Board on — our response to a cybersecurity incident.
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Third-Party Risk Management

We have implemented controls designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third-party service providers. Such
providers are subject to security risk assessments at the time of onboarding, contract renewal, and upon detection of an increase in risk profile. We use a
variety of inputs in such risk assessments, including information supplied by providers and third parties. In addition, we require our providers to meet
appropriate security requirements, controls and responsibilities and investigate security incidents that have impacted our third-party providers, as
appropriate.

Education and Awareness

Our policies require each of our employees to contribute to our data security efforts. We regularly remind employees of the importance of handling
and protecting customer and employee data, including through annual privacy and security training to enhance employee awareness of how to detect and
respond to cybersecurity threats.

External Assessments

Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are regularly assessed by consultants and external auditors. These assessments include a
variety of activities including information security maturity assessments, audits and independent reviews of our information security control environment
and operating effectiveness. For example, in 2022 and 2023, we conducted independent cyber audits to assess our controls against the NIST Cybersecurity
Framework. The results of significant assessments are reported to management, the Board and Audit Committee. Cybersecurity processes are adjusted
based on the information provided from these assessments. We have also obtained industry certifications and attestations that demonstrate our dedication to
protecting the data our customers entrust to us.

Governance

Board Oversight

Our Board, in coordination with the Audit Committee, oversees our management of cybersecurity risk. They receive regular reports from
management about the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents, including material security risks and information
security vulnerabilities. Our Audit Committee directly oversees our cybersecurity program. The Audit Committee receives regular updates from
management on cybersecurity risk resulting from risk assessments, progress of risk reduction initiatives, external auditor feedback, control maturity
assessments, and relevant internal and industry cybersecurity incidents.

Management’s Role

Our chief information officer (“CIO”), chief information security officer (“CISO”), chief technology officer (“CTO”), and General Counsel have
primary responsibility for assessing and managing material cybersecurity risks and are members of management’s Security Steering Committee (the
“Security Committee”), which is a governing body that drives alignment on security decisions across the Company. The Security Committee meets
quarterly to review security performance metrics, identify security risks, and assess the status of approved security enhancements. The Security Committee
also considers and makes recommendations on security policies and procedures, security service requirements, and risk mitigation strategies.

Our CIO has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 20 years, including serving as the Chief Information
Officer or Chief Technology Officer of three other public companies. He holds an undergraduate degree in computer engineering. Our CISO has served in
various roles in information technology and information security for almost 20 years, including serving as the Chief Information Security Officer or Chief
Security Officer at two other large public companies. He holds an undergraduate and master’s degree in computer science. Our CTO has served in various
roles in information technology for over 25 years and has been with us since 2011. Our General Counsel has over 20 years of experience managing risks,
including risks arising from cybersecurity threats, at several large publicly-traded technology companies.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal office is located in Santa Clara, California, where we lease approximately 1,120,000 square feet of space under lease agreements for our
business operations and product development. We also maintain offices globally. All of our properties are currently leased. We believe our existing
facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements. See Note 17 in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for more information about our lease commitments.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to certain litigation and other legal proceedings. While legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to uncertainties, we do
not believe that the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings, whether taken individually or in the aggregate, is likely to have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

For additional information regarding legal proceedings, see Note 17 in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NOW.”

Dividends

Our board of directors currently intends to retain any future earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our
business, and therefore does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

Stockholders

As of December 31, 2023, there were 13 registered stockholders of record (not including an indeterminate number of beneficial holders of stock held
in street name through brokers and other intermediaries) of our common stock.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference
into any of our other filings under the Securities Act of 1933, (the “Securities Act”) or the Exchange Act except to the extent we specifically incorporate it
by reference into such filing.

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index,
NYSE Composite Index and the Standard & Poor Systems Software Index for each of the last five fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 through
December 31, 2023, assuming an initial investment of $100. Data for the S&P 500 Index, NYSE Composite Index and the Standard & Poor Systems
Software Index assume reinvestment of dividends.

The comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future performance of our
common stock.
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Base Period
Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2021 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2023

ServiceNow, Inc. 100.00 158.56 309.14 364.57 218.07 396.79 
NYSE Composite 100.00 125.51 134.28 162.04 146.89 167.12 
S&P 500 100.00 131.49 155.68 200.37 164.08 207.21 
S&P Systems Software 100.00 151.38 216.60 325.96 236.39 370.89 

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Share repurchases of our common stock for the three months ended December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced

Program
 (in thousands)

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the
Program
(in billions)Period

Total Number of Shares
Purchased

(in thousands)
Average Price Paid Per

Share
October 1 - 31 35 $ 572.45 35 $ 1.20 
November 1 - 30 365 644.02 365 0.96 
December 1 - 31 — — — 0.96 
Fourth Quarter 2023 400 $ 639.59 400 $ 0.96 

(1) On May 16, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $1.5 billion of our common stock.

(1)
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Part II, Item 6 is no longer required as we have adopted certain provisions within the amendments to Regulation S-K that eliminate Item 301.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
This section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K discusses our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal years ended December 31,

2023 and 2022, and year-to-year comparisons between fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022 in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”). A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 and year-to-year comparisons
between fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2021 that is not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, filed
on January 31, 2023.

Our free cash flow measure included in the section entitled “—Key Business Metrics—Free Cash Flow,” is not in accordance with GAAP. This non-
GAAP financial measure is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, financial information prepared and presented in
accordance with GAAP. This measure may be different from non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies, limiting its usefulness for comparison
purposes. We encourage investors to carefully consider our results under GAAP, as well as our supplemental non-GAAP results, to more fully understand
our business.

Overview

ServiceNow was founded on a simple premise: to make work flow better. Our purpose is to make the world work better for everyone. Our intelligent
platform, the Now Platform, is a cloud-based solution with embedded artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities that helps global enterprises
across industries, universities and governments unify and digitize their workflows. The Now Platform automates workflows across an entire enterprise by
connecting disparate departments, systems and silos in a seamless way to unlock productivity and improve experiences for both employees and customers.
Our workflow applications built on the Now Platform are organized along four primary areas: Technology, Customer and Industry, Employee and Creator.
The transformation to digital operations, enabled by the Now Platform, increases our customers’ resiliency and security and delivers great experiences and
additional value to their C-suite, employees and consumers.

We are closely monitoring the unfolding events of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the current armed conflict in Israel and the Gaza Strip. While
these events are still evolving and the outcome remains highly uncertain, we do not believe the conflicts will have a material impact on our business and
results of operations. However, if the conflicts continue or worsen, leading to greater global economic disruptions and uncertainty, our business and results
of operations could be materially impacted. Our customers in these regions represented an immaterial portion of our net assets and total consolidated
revenues both as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Additionally, other macroeconomic events, including rising interest rates, global inflation and bank failures, have led to economic uncertainty in the
global economy. To mitigate risk, our cash and cash equivalents are distributed across several large financial institutions and are not concentrated in one
financial institution. We have not experienced any impact to our liquidity or to our current and projected business operations and financial condition due to
recent bank failures. Further, we have policy restrictions on the types of securities that can be purchased as part of our available-for-sale debt securities
portfolio. These restrictions take industry and company concentration limits into consideration among other things. Furthermore, the majority of our non-
marketable equity investments do not have material relationships with any one financial institution, and therefore, we believe that our exposure to loss is
immaterial. We will continue to monitor the direct and indirect impact of macroeconomic events on our business and financial results.

See the “Risk Factors” section in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report for further discussion of the possible impact of the above conflicts and
macroeconomic events on our business and financial results.
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Key Business Metrics

Remaining performance obligations. Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations (“RPO”) represents contracted revenue that
has not yet been recognized, which includes deferred revenue and non-cancellable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future
periods. RPO excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain time and materials contracts, as we apply the “right to invoice” practical expedient
under relevant accounting guidance. Current remaining performance obligations (“cRPO”) represents RPO that will be recognized as revenue in the next 12
months.

As of December 31, 2023, our RPO was $18.0 billion, of which 48% represented cRPO. RPO and cRPO increased by 29% and 24%, respectively,
compared to December 31, 2022. Factors that may cause our RPO to vary from period to period include the following:

• Foreign currency exchange rates. While a majority of our contracts have historically been in U.S. Dollars, an increasing percentage of our
contracts in recent periods has been in foreign currencies, particularly the Euro and British Pound Sterling. Fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates as of the balance sheet date will cause variability in our RPO.

• Mix of offerings. In a minority of cases, we allow our customers to host our software by themselves or through a third-party service provider. In
self-hosted offerings, we recognize a portion of the revenue upfront upon the delivery of the software and as a result, such revenue is excluded
from RPO.

 
• Subscription start date. From time to time, we enter into contracts with a subscription start date in the future and these amounts are included in

RPO if such contracts are signed by the balance sheet date.
 

• Timing of contract renewals. While customers typically renew their contracts at the end of the contract term, from time to time, customers may
do so either before or after the scheduled expiration date. For example, in cases where we are successful in selling additional products or services
to an existing customer, a customer may decide to renew its existing contract early to ensure that all its contracts expire on the same date. In other
cases, prolonged negotiations or other factors may result in a contract not being renewed until after it has expired.
 

• Contract duration. While we typically enter into multi-year subscription services, the duration of our contracts varies. Further, we continue to see
an increase in the number of 12-month agreements entered into with the U.S. federal government throughout the year, with the highest number of
agreements entered into in the quarter ended September 30, driven primarily by timing of their annual budget expenditures. We sometimes also
enter into contracts with durations that have a 12-month or shorter term to enable the contracts to co-terminate with the existing contract. The
contract duration will cause variability in our RPO.

Number of customers with ACV greater than $1 million. We count the total number of customers with annual contract value (“ACV”) greater than $1
million as of the end of the period. We had 1,897, 1,643, and 1,350 customers with ACV greater than $1 million as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. For purposes of customer count, a customer is defined as an entity that has a unique Dunn & Bradstreet Global Ultimate (“GULT”) Data
Universal Numbering System (“DUNS”) number and an active subscription contract as of the measurement date. The DUNS number is a global standard
for business identification and tracking. We make exceptions for holding companies, government entities and other organizations for which the GULT, in
our judgment, does not accurately represent the ServiceNow customer. For example, while all U.S. government agencies roll up to “Government of the
United States” under the GULT, we count each government agency that we contract with as a separate customer. Our customer count is subject to
adjustments for acquisitions, spin-offs and other market activity; accordingly, we restate previously disclosed number of customers with ACV greater than
$1 million calculations to allow for comparability. ACV is calculated based on the foreign exchange rate in effect at the time the contract was signed.
Foreign exchange rate fluctuations could cause some variability in the number of customers with ACV greater than $1 million. We believe information
regarding the total number of customers with ACV greater than $1 million provides useful information to investors because it is an indicator of our
growing customer base and demonstrates the value customers are receiving from the Now Platform.
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Free cash flow. We define free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, as GAAP net cash provided by operating activities plus cash outflows for
legal settlements, repayments of convertible senior notes attributable to debt discount and business combination and other related costs including
compensation expense, reduced by purchases of property and equipment. Purchases of property and equipment are otherwise included in cash used in
investing activities under GAAP. We believe information regarding free cash flow provides useful information to investors because it is an indicator of the
strength and performance of our business operations. However, our calculation of free cash flow may not be comparable to similar measures used by other
companies. A calculation of free cash flow is provided below:
 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

(in millions)
Free cash flow:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,398 $ 2,723 $ 2,191 
Purchases of property and equipment (694) (550) (392)
Repayments of convertible senior notes attributable to debt discount — — 15 
Business combination and other related costs 24 7 53 
Free cash flow $ 2,728 $ 2,180 $ 1,867 

We have historically seen higher collections in the quarter ended March 31 due to seasonality in timing of entering into customer contracts, which is
significantly higher in the quarter ended December 31. Additionally, we have historically seen higher disbursements in the quarters ended March 31 and
September 30 due to payouts under our annual commission plans, purchases under our employee stock purchase plan, payouts under our bonus plans and
coupon payments related to our 2030 Notes beginning in 2021.

Renewal rate. We calculate our renewal rate by subtracting our attrition rate from 100%. Our attrition rate for a period is equal to the ACV from
customers lost during the period, divided by the sum of (i) the total ACV from all customers that renewed during the period, excluding changes in price or
users, and (ii) the total ACV from all customers lost during the period. Accordingly, our renewal rate is calculated based on ACV and is not based on the
number of customers that have renewed. Further, our renewal rate does not reflect increased or decreased purchases from our customers to the extent such
customers are not lost customers or lapsed renewals. A lost customer is a customer that did not renew an expiring contract and that, in our judgment, will
not be renewed. Typically, a customer that reduces its subscription upon renewal is not considered a lost customer. However, in instances where the
subscription decrease represents the majority of the customer’s ACV, we may deem the renewal as a lost customer. For our renewal rate calculation, we
define a customer as an entity with a separate production instance of our service and an active subscription contract as of the measurement date, instead of
an entity with a unique GULT or DUNS number. We adjust our renewal rate for acquisitions, consolidations and other customer events that cause the
merging of two or more accounts occurring at the time of renewal. Our renewal rate was 98% for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021. As our renewal rate is impacted by the timing of renewals, which could occur in advance of, or subsequent to the original contract end date, period-
to-period comparison of renewal rates may not be meaningful.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. These items are monitored and analyzed by us for changes in facts
and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Changes in estimates are reflected in reported results for the period in which they become
known. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and such differences could be material.
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While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies are critical to the process of making significant judgments and
estimates in the preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenues predominately from subscription revenues, which are primarily comprised of subscription fees that give customers access to
the ordered subscription service, related support and updates, if any, to the subscribed service during the subscription term. For our cloud services, we
recognize subscription revenues ratably over the contract term beginning on the commencement date of each contract, the date we make our services
available to our customers. Our contracts with customers typically include a fixed amount of consideration and are generally non-cancellable and without
any refund-type provisions.

Subscription revenues also include revenues from self-hosted offerings in which customers deploy, or we grant customers the option to deploy
without significant penalty, our subscription service internally or contract with a third party to host the software. For these contracts, we account for the
software element separately from the related support and updates as they are distinct performance obligations. The transaction price is allocated to separate
performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. The transaction price allocated to the software element is recognized when
transfer of control of the software to the customer is complete. The transaction price allocated to the related support and updates are recognized ratably over
the contract term.

We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of products and services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted
for as separate performance obligations. For these contracts, the transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP
basis. Evaluating the terms and conditions included within our customer contracts for appropriate revenue recognition and determining whether products
and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment.

Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions are the incremental selling costs that are associated with acquiring customer contracts and consist primarily of sales
commissions paid to our sales organization and referral fees paid to independent third parties. Commissions and referral fees earned upon the execution of
initial and expansion contracts are primarily deferred and amortized over a period of benefit that we have determined to be five years consistent with prior
year. Commissions earned upon the renewal of customer contracts are deferred and amortized over the average renewal term. Additionally, for self-hosted
offerings, consistent with the recognition of subscription revenues for self-hosted offerings, a portion of the commission cost is expensed upfront when the
self-hosted offering is made available. Determining the period of benefit, including average renewal term, requires judgment for which we take into
consideration our customer contracts, our technology life cycle and other factors.

 
Business Combinations

The allocation of the purchase price in a business combination requires management to make significant estimates in determining the fair value of
acquired assets and assumed liabilities, especially with respect to intangible assets. The excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair
value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Critical estimates in valuing certain intangible assets
include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows, discount rates, revenue growth rates, the time and expense to recreate the assets and profit
margin a market participant would receive. These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from
estimates. We evaluate these estimates and assumptions as new information is obtained and may record adjustments to the fair value of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed but not later than one year from the acquisition date.
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Income Taxes
 
Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we

operate. Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective government taxing authorities. Significant judgment is
required in determining our tax expense (benefit) and in evaluating our tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties and the complexity of taxes on
foreign earnings. We review our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information becomes available.

Deferred tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years. Such assets arise because of
temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions and credits by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources,
including future growth, forecasted earnings, future taxable income, the mix of earnings in the jurisdictions in which we operate, historical earnings,
taxable income in prior years, if carryback is permitted under the law, carryforward periods and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. A valuation
allowance is established if it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. To the extent sufficient positive
evidence becomes available, we may release all or a portion of our valuation allowance in one or more future periods. A release of the valuation allowance,
if any, would result in the recognition of certain deferred tax assets and a material income tax benefit for the period in which such release is recorded.

We regularly assess the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. In making that assessment, we consider both positive and
negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of June 30, 2023, we achieved cumulative U.S. income during the
prior twelve quarters when considering pre-tax income adjusted for permanent differences and other comprehensive losses. Based on all available positive
and negative evidence, having demonstrated sustained profitability which is objective and verifiable, and taking into account anticipated future earnings,
we concluded it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets will be realizable, with the exception of California. We continue to
maintain a valuation allowance against our California deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty regarding realizability of these deferred tax assets as they
have not met the “more likely than not” realization criteria, particularly as we expect research and development tax credit generation to exceed our ability
to use the credits in future years. Of the $1.2 billion valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022, we released $1.05 billion of our valuation allowance
during the year ended December 31, 2023. We maintained a valuation allowance of $196 million against our California deferred tax assets. We will
continue to monitor the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. See Note 16 – Income Taxes, in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on discussion on valuation allowance.

Our tax positions are subject to income tax audits by multiple tax jurisdictions throughout the world. We recognize the tax benefit of an uncertain tax
position only if it is more likely than not the position is sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority based on the technical merits. We measure the
tax benefit recognized as the largest amount of benefit which is more likely than not to be realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize
interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in our tax provision. Significant judgment is required to evaluate uncertain tax positions.
Our evaluations are based upon a number of factors, including changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law or guidance, correspondence with tax
authorities during the course of audits and effective settlement of audit issues. Changes in the recognition or measurement of uncertain tax positions could
result in material increases or decreases in our income tax expense in the period in which we make the change, which could have a material impact on our
effective tax rate and operating results.

We calculate the current and deferred income tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed in subsequent years and record adjustments based on filed income tax returns when identified. The amount of income taxes paid is
subject to examination by U.S. federal, state and foreign tax authorities. The estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to
management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumstances existing at that time. To the extent the assessment of such tax position changes, we
record the change in estimate in the period in which we make the determination.
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Change in Accounting Estimate

In January 2024, we completed an assessment of the useful life of our data center equipment and determined we should increase the estimated useful
life of data center equipment from four to five years. This change in accounting estimate will be effective beginning fiscal year 2024. Based on the carrying
amount of data center equipment included in property and equipment, net that are in-service as of December 31, 2023, it is estimated this change will
increase our fiscal year 2024 operating income by approximately $100 million.

Components of Results of Operations
 

Revenues

Subscription revenues. Subscription revenues are primarily comprised of fees that give customers access to the ordered subscription service for both
self-hosted offerings and cloud-based subscription offerings, and related standard and enhanced support and updates, if any, to the subscription service
during the subscription term. For our cloud-based offerings, we recognize revenue ratably over the subscription term. For self-hosted offerings, a
substantial portion of the sales price is recognized upon delivery of the software, which may cause greater variability in our subscription revenues and
subscription gross margin. Pricing includes multiple instances, hosting and support services, data backup and disaster recovery services, as well as future
updates, when and if available, offered during the subscription term. We typically invoice our customers for subscription fees in annual increments upon
execution of the initial contract or subsequent renewal. Our contracts are generally non-cancellable during the subscription term, though a customer can
terminate for breach if we materially fail to perform.

Professional services and other revenues. Our arrangements for professional services are primarily on a time-and-materials basis, and we generally
invoice our customers monthly in arrears for the professional services based on actual hours and expenses incurred. Some of our professional services
arrangements are on a fixed fee. Professional services revenues are recognized as services are delivered. Other revenues primarily consist of fees from
customer training delivered on-site or through publicly available classes. Typical payment terms require our customers to pay us within 30 days of invoice.

We sell our subscription services primarily through our direct sales organization. We also sell services through managed service providers and resale
partners. We also generate revenues from certain professional services and from training of customers and partner personnel, through both our direct team
and indirect channel sales. Revenues from our direct sales organization represented 79% of our total revenues for each of the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021. For purposes of calculating revenues from our direct sales organization, revenues from systems integrators and managed services
providers are included as part of the direct sales organization.

Seasonality. We have historically experienced seasonality in terms of when we enter into customer agreements. We sign a significantly higher
percentage of agreements with new customers, as well as expansion with existing customers, in the fourth quarter of each year. The increase in customer
agreements for the fourth quarter is primarily a result of both large enterprise account buying patterns typical in the software industry, which are driven
primarily by the expiration of annual authorized budgeted expenditures, and the terms of our commission plans, which incentivize our direct sales
organization to meet their annual quotas by December 31. Furthermore, we usually sign a significant portion of these agreements during the last month, and
often the last two weeks, of each quarter. This seasonality of entering into customer agreements is sometimes not immediately apparent in our revenues,
due to the fact that we recognize subscription revenues from our cloud offering contracts over the term of the subscription agreement, which is generally 12
to 36 months. In addition, we continue to see an increase in the number of 12-month agreements entered into with the U.S. federal government throughout
the year, with the highest number of agreements entered into in the third quarter, driven primarily by the timing of their annual budget expenditures. This
larger mix of contracts with 12-month renewal terms in the third quarter will generally cause variability in our RPO and cRPO in subsequent quarters until
they are renewed. Although these seasonal factors may be common in the technology industry, historical patterns should not be considered a reliable
indicator of our future sales activity or performance.
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Cost of Revenues

Cost of subscription revenues. Cost of subscription revenues consists primarily of expenses related to hosting our services and providing support to
our customers. These expenses are comprised of data center capacity costs, which include colocation costs associated with our data centers as well as
interconnectivity between data centers, depreciation related to our infrastructure hardware equipment dedicated for customer use, amortization of intangible
assets, expenses associated with software, public cloud service costs, IT services and dedicated customer support, personnel-related costs directly
associated with data center operations and customer support, including salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation and allocated overhead.

Cost of professional services and other revenues. Cost of professional services and other revenues consists primarily of personnel-related costs
directly associated with our professional services and training departments, including salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation, the costs of
contracted third-party partners, travel expenses and allocated overhead.

Professional services are performed directly by our services team, as well as by contracted third-party partners. Fees paid by us to third-party partners
are primarily recognized as cost of revenues as the professional services are delivered. Cost of revenues associated with our professional services
engagements contracted with third-party partners as a percentage of professional services and other revenues was 10%, 12% and 14% for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses directly associated with our sales and marketing staff, including
salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation. Sales and marketing expenses also include the amortization of commissions paid to our sales
employees, including related payroll taxes and fringe benefits. In addition, sales and marketing expenses include branding expenses, marketing program
expenses, which include events such as Knowledge, and costs associated with purchasing advertising and marketing data, software and subscription
services dedicated for sales and marketing use and allocated overhead.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses directly associated with our research and development staff,
including salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation and allocated overhead. Research and development expenses also include data center
capacity costs, costs associated with outside services contracted for research and development purposes and depreciation of infrastructure hardware
equipment that is used solely for research and development purposes.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for our executive, finance, legal, human resources, facilities and
administrative personnel, including salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation, external legal, accounting and other professional services
fees, other corporate expenses, amortization of intangible assets and allocated overhead.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes consists of federal, state and foreign income taxes. Our income tax benefit for the year ended December 31,
2023 is primarily attributable to the release of the valuation allowance against certain U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, excluding California. We
continue to maintain a valuation allowance against our California deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty regarding realizability of these deferred tax
assets as they have not met the “more likely than not” realization criteria, particularly as we expect research and development tax credit generation to
exceed our ability to use the credits in future years.
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Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenues

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

(dollars in millions)
Revenues:

Subscription $ 8,680 $ 6,891 26 %
Professional services and other 291 354 (18 %)

Total revenues $ 8,971 $ 7,245 24 %
Percentage of revenues:

Subscription 97 % 95 %
Professional services and other 3 % 5 %

Total 100 % 100 %

Subscription revenues increased by $1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, primarily driven by increased
purchases by new and existing customers. Included in subscription revenues is $322 million and $253 million of revenues recognized upfront from the
delivery of software associated with self-hosted offerings during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

We expect subscription revenues for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars and remain relatively flat as a percentage of
revenue as we continue to add new customers and existing customers increase their usage of our products compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Our expectations for revenues, cost of revenues and operating expenses for the year ending December 31, 2024 are based on the 31-day average of
foreign exchange rates for December 31, 2023.

Subscription revenues consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
% Change2023 2022

(dollars in millions)
Digital workflow products $ 7,679 $ 6,077 26 %
ITOM products 1,001 814 23 %
Total subscription revenues $ 8,680 $ 6,891 26 %

Our digital workflow products include most of our product offerings and are generally priced on a per user basis. Our remaining product offerings,
primarily comprised of our IT Operations Management (“ITOM”) products are predominantly priced on a subscription unit basis.

Professional services and other revenues decreased by $63 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, due to a
decrease in services and trainings provided to new and existing customers as we focused on deploying our internal professional services organization as a
strategic resource and worked with our partner ecosystem to contract directly with customers for implementation services delivery.

We expect professional services and other revenues for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars and to remain relatively flat
as a percentage of revenue compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 as we continue to execute our professional services strategy.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit Percentage

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
Cost of revenues:

Subscription $ 1,606 $ 1,187 35 %
Professional services and other 315 386 (18 %)

Total cost of revenues $ 1,921 $ 1,573 22 %
Gross profit percentage:

Subscription 82 % 83 %
Professional services and other (8 %) (9 %)
Total gross profit percentage 79 % 78 %

Gross profit: $ 7,050 $ 5,672 24 %

Cost of subscription revenues increased by $419 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, primarily due to increased
headcount and increased costs to support the growth of our subscription offerings including costs to support customers in regulated markets. Personnel-
related costs including stock-based compensation and overhead expenses increased by $229 million as compared to prior year. Depreciation expense related
to infrastructure hardware equipment dedicated for customer use increased by $97 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to prior year
and maintenance costs to support the expansion of our data center capacity, including public cloud service costs, increased by $77 million, as compared to
prior year.

We expect our cost of subscription revenues for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars as we provide subscription services
to more customers and increase usage within our customer instances but remain relatively flat as a percentage of revenue compared to the year ended
December 31, 2023. We will continue to incur incremental costs to attract customers in regulated markets by adopting public cloud offerings as well as
increased support for customers impacted by new and evolving data residency requirements. To the extent future acquisitions are consummated, our cost of
subscription revenues may increase due to additional non-cash charges associated with the amortization of intangible assets acquired. Our subscription
gross profit percentage was 82% and 83% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We expect our subscription gross profit
percentage to remain relatively flat for the year ending December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Cost of professional services and other revenues decreased by $71 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year. The
decrease was primarily due to a decrease in contracted third-party partners spend and decreased headcount resulting in a decrease in personnel-related
costs, including stock-based compensation.

Our professional services and other gross loss percentage improved to 8% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 9% in the prior year,
primarily due to decreased headcount resulting in a decrease in personnel-related costs and a decrease in contracted third-party partners spend. We expect
our professional services and other gross loss percentage to improve for the year ending December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31,
2023.
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Sales and Marketing

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
Sales and marketing $ 3,301 $ 2,814 17 %
Percentage of revenues 37 % 39 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $487 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, primarily due to
increased headcount resulting in an increase in personnel-related costs including stock-based compensation and overhead expenses of $334 million,
compared to the prior year. Amortization expenses associated with deferred commissions increased by $99 million, compared to the prior year, due to an
increase in contracts with new customers, expansion and renewal contracts. Other sales and marketing program expenses, which include branding, costs
associated with purchasing advertising, marketing events and market data, increased by $44 million compared to the prior year, primarily due to increased
program costs and travel for our annual Sales Kickoff.

We expect sales and marketing expenses for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars and to decrease as a percentage of
revenue compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, as we continue to see leverage from increased sales productivity and marketing efficiencies in
2024.

Research and Development
 Year Ended December 31,

% Change 2023 2022
 (dollars in millions)  
Research and development $ 2,124 $ 1,768 20 %
Percentage of revenues 24 % 24 %

Research and development expenses (“R&D”) increased by $356 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year,
primarily due to increased headcount resulting in an increase in personnel-related costs including stock-based compensation and overhead expenses of $312
million compared to prior year. The remaining increase was primarily due to an increase in data center capacity costs and depreciation of infrastructure
hardware equipment that is used solely for R&D purposes of $27 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year.

We expect R&D expenses for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars but remain relatively flat as a percentage of revenue
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, as we continue to improve the existing functionality of our services, develop new applications to fill
market needs and enhance our core platform.

General and Administrative

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
General and administrative $ 863 $ 735 17 %
Percentage of revenues 10 % 10% 

General and administrative expenses (“G&A”) increased by $128 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year,
primarily due to increased headcount resulting in an increase in personnel-related costs including stock-based compensation and overhead expenses of $83
million. Non-personnel-related costs and outside services increased by $32 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year.

43



Table of Contents

We expect G&A expenses for the year ending December 31, 2024 to increase in absolute dollars but decrease slightly as a percentage of revenue
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, as we continue to see leverage from continued G&A productivity.

Stock-based Compensation

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
Cost of revenues:

Subscription $ 202 $ 157 29 %
Professional services and other 52 67 (22 %)

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 505 459 10 %
Research and development 579 495 17 %
General and administrative 266 223 19 %

Total stock-based compensation $ 1,604 $ 1,401 14 %
Percentage of revenues 18 % 19 %

Stock-based compensation increased by $203 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, primarily due to
additional grants to current and new employees.

Stock-based compensation is inherently difficult to forecast due to fluctuations in our stock price. Based upon our stock price as of December 31,
2023, we expect stock-based compensation to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the year ending December 31, 2024 as we continue to issue stock-
based awards to our employees but decrease slightly as a percentage of revenue compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. We expect stock-based
compensation as a percentage of revenue to decline over time as we continue to grow.

Foreign Currency Exchange

Our international operations have provided and will continue to provide a significant portion of our total revenues. Revenues outside North America
represented 36% and 35% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Because we primarily transact in foreign
currencies for sales outside of the United States, the general weakening of the U.S. Dollar relative to certain major foreign currencies (primarily the Euro
and British Pound Sterling) during the year ended December 31, 2023 had a favorable impact on our revenues. For entities reporting in currencies other
than the U.S. Dollar, if we had translated our results for the year ended December 31, 2023 at the exchange rates in effect for the year ended December 31,
2022 rather than the actual exchange rates in effect during the period, our reported subscription revenues would have been $34 million lower for the year
ended December 31, 2023. The impact from the foreign currency movements from the year ended December 31, 2022 to the year ended December 31,
2023 was not material to professional services and other revenues.

In addition, because we primarily transact in foreign currencies for cost of revenues and operating expenses outside of the United States, the general
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar relative to other major foreign currencies had a favorable impact on our R&D expenses during the year ended December
31, 2023. For entities reporting in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, if we had translated our results for the year ended December 31, 2023 at the
exchange rates in effect for the year ended December 31, 2022 rather than the actual exchange rates in effect during the period, our reported R&D expenses
would have been $12 million higher for the year ended December 31, 2023. The impact from the foreign currency movements from the year ended
December 31, 2022 to the year ended December 31, 2023 was not material to cost of revenues, sales and marketing and G&A expenses.
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Interest Income

Year Ended December 31,
% Change2023 2022

(dollars in millions)
Interest income $ 302 $ 82 268 %
Percentage of revenues 3 % 1 %

Interest income increased during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year primarily driven by an increase in investment income
from our managed portfolio resulting from higher portfolio balances and an increase in interest rates.

Other Expense, net

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
Interest expense $ (24) $ (27) (11 %)
Other (32) (11) 191 %

Other expense, net $ (56) $ (38) 47 %
Percentage of revenues (1 %) (1%)

Other expense, net increased by $18 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year, primarily driven by higher
unrealized losses on foreign currency forward contracts.

To mitigate our risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, we enter into foreign currency derivative contracts with
maturities of 12 months or less to hedge a portion of our net outstanding monetary assets and liabilities. These hedging contracts may reduce, but cannot
entirely eliminate, the impact of adverse currency exchange rate movements. The gains (losses) recognized for these foreign currency forward contracts in
other expense, net, were immaterial for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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(Benefit from) provision for Income Taxes

 Year Ended December 31,
% Change 2023 2022

 (dollars in millions)  
Income before income taxes $ 1,008 $ 399 153 %
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (723) 74 NM
Effective tax rate (72 %) 19 % NM
 NM - Not meaningful

Our effective tax rate was (72%) and 19% for the year ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. The difference in rates was primarily
attributable to the release of the valuation allowance against certain U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, excluding California in the year ended
December 31, 2023.

The income tax benefit was $723 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The income tax benefit was primarily attributable to the release of
the valuation allowance of certain U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. We regularly assess the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax
assets. In making that assessment, we consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to
determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of
June 30, 2023, we achieved cumulative U.S. income during the prior twelve quarters when considering pre-tax income adjusted for permanent differences
and other comprehensive losses. Based on all available positive and negative evidence, having demonstrated sustained profitability which is objective and
verifiable, and taking into account anticipated future earnings, we concluded it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets will
be realizable, with the exception of California. We continue to maintain a valuation allowance against our California deferred tax assets due to the
uncertainty regarding realizability of these deferred tax assets as they have not met the “more likely than not” realization criteria, particularly as we expect
research and development tax credit generation to exceed our ability to use the credits in future years. Of the $1.2 billion valuation allowance as of
December 31, 2022, we released $1.05 billion of our valuation allowance during the year ended December 31, 2023. We maintained a valuation allowance
of $196 million against our California deferred tax assets. We will continue to monitor the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets on
a quarterly basis.

In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development adopted model rules for a 15% global minimum tax (Pillar 2) and
has continued to issue administrative guidance and interpretations. Approximately 20 countries have enacted the rules into their domestic tax legislation.
The United States has not enacted the rules. Due to the uncertainty of whether the United States and other countries will enact the rules, the timing of
individual country legislative action and the underlying complexity of the rules, the impact, if any, on the Company is not reasonably estimable.

See Note 16– Income Taxes, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for our
reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory federal rate to the provision for income taxes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
We generate cash inflows from operations primarily from selling subscription services which are generally paid in advance of provisioning services,

and cash outflows to develop new services and core technologies that further enhance the Now Platform, engage our customer and enhance their
experience, and enable and transform our business operations. Subscription services arrangements typically have a three-year duration, and we have
experienced a renewal rate of 98% for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. Cash outflows from operations are principally
comprised of the salaries, bonuses, commissions, and benefits for our workforce, licenses and services arrangements that are integral to our business
operations and data centers and operating lease arrangements that underlie our facilities. We have generated positive operating cash flows for more than ten
years as we continue to grow our business in pursuit of our business strategy, and we expect to grow our business and generate positive cash flows from
operations during 2024. When assessing sources of liquidity, we also include cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments
totaling $8.1 billion as of December 31, 2023.

Our working capital requirements are principally comprised of non-contract workforce salaries, bonuses, commissions, and benefits and, to a lesser
extent, cancellable and non-cancellable licenses and services arrangements that are integral to our business operations, and operating lease obligations.
Non-cancellable purchase commitments for business operations total $1.6 billion as of December 31, 2023, due primarily over the next five years.
Operating lease obligations totaling $937 million are principally associated with leased facilities and have varying maturities with $515 million due over
the next five years.

We may repurchase our shares of common stock in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or by other means, with the objective to
return value to our stockholders and manage the dilution from future employee equity grants and employee stock purchase programs. In May 2023, our
board of directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $1.5 billion of our common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased
0.9 million shares of our common stock for $538 million. All repurchases were made in open market transactions. Repurchases of common stock are
recognized as treasury stock and held for future issuance. As of December 31, 2023, $962 million of the originally authorized amount under the Share
Repurchase Program remained available for future repurchases.

To grow our business, we also invest in capital and other resources to expand our data centers and enable our workforce, and we acquire technology
and businesses to supplement our technology portfolio. Our capital expenditures are typically under cancellable arrangements primarily used to support the
installed base and growth of our hosted business. We have also issued long-term debt to finance our business. In August 2020, we issued 1.40% fixed rate
ten-year notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion due on September 1, 2030 (the “2030 Notes”).

Our free cash flows, together with our other sources of liquidity, are available to service our liabilities as well as our cancellable and non-cancellable
arrangements. We anticipate cash flows generated from operations, cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for
at least the next 12 months. As we look beyond the next 12 months, we seek to continue to grow free cash flows necessary to fund our operations and grow
our business. If we require additional capital resources, we may seek to finance our operations from the current funds available or additional equity or debt
financing.
 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022
 (in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,398 $ 2,723 
Net cash used in investing activities (2,167) (2,583)
Net cash used in financing activities (803) (344)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 429 (257)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to $2.7 billion for the prior year. The net
increase in operating cash flow was primarily due to higher collections driven by revenue growth.
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $2.2 billion compared to $2.6 billion for the prior year. The net
decrease in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to a $681 million decrease in net purchases of investments, a $92 million decrease in
purchases of non-marketable investments, offset by a $191 million increase in business combinations and a $144 million increase in purchases of property
and equipment.

Financing Activities
 
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $803 million compared to $344 million for the prior year. The net

increase in cash used in financing activities is primarily due to repurchases of common stock for $538 million, a $32 million increase in taxes paid related
to net share settlement of equity awards, offset by a $17 million increase in proceeds from employee stock plans and a $94 million decrease in repayments
of convertible senior notes attributable to principal.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our estimated future obligations consist of leases, a non-cancellable $500 million agreement with Microsoft to purchase cloud services over five
years for accelerating the Azure adoption for mutual customers, the second installment of the consideration for the G2K acquisition to be paid in February
2024, purchase obligations, debt and unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 17 “Commitments and Contingencies,” Note 5
“Business Combinations” and Note 16 “(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes” to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K for more information.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our revenue and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, primarily the
Euro and British Pound Sterling. We are a net receiver of Euro and British Pound Sterling, and therefore benefit from a weakening of the U.S. Dollar
relative to these currencies and, conversely, are adversely affected by a strengthening of the U.S. Dollar relative to these currencies. Revenues denominated
in U.S. Dollar as a percentage of total revenues was 71%, 72% and 70% for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
A hypothetical 10% increase in the U.S. Dollar against other currencies would have resulted in a decrease in operating income of $107 million, $75

million and $62 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This analysis disregards the possibilities that rates can move
in opposite directions and that losses from one geographic area may be offset by gains from another geographic area.

To mitigate our risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, we enter into foreign currency derivative contracts to hedge a
portion of our net outstanding monetary assets and liabilities. These derivative contracts are intended to offset gains or losses related to remeasuring
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded.

These derivative contracts expose us to credit risk to the extent that the counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the arrangement. We
mitigate this credit risk by transacting with major financial institutions with high credit ratings and entering into master netting arrangements, which permit
net settlement of transactions with the same counterparty. While the contract or notional amount is often used to express the volume of foreign currency
derivative contracts, the amounts potentially subject to credit risk are generally limited to the amounts, if any, by which the counterparties’ obligations
under the agreements exceed our obligations to the counterparties. We are not required to pledge, and are not entitled to receive, cash collateral related to
these derivative instruments. We do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes. Refer to Note 8 in the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity
 
We had an aggregate of $8.1 billion in cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments as of December 31, 2023. This

amount was invested primarily in money market funds, certificates of deposit, corporate notes and bonds, government and agency securities and other debt
securities with a minimum rating of BBB by Standard & Poor’s, Baa2 by Moody’s or BBB by Fitch. The primary objectives of our investment activities are
the preservation of capital and support of our liquidity requirements. Our investments are exposed to market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates, which
may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our investments.

As of December 31, 2023, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have resulted in an approximate $60 million decline of the
fair value of our available-for-sale debt securities. This estimate is based on a sensitivity model that measures market value changes when changes in
interest rates occur.

As of December 31, 2022, we had an aggregate of $6.4 billion in cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments, and a
hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have resulted in an approximate $39 million decline of the fair value of our available-for-sale
debt securities.

Market Risk

In August 2020, we issued 1.40% fixed rate ten-year notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion due on September 1, 2030. The 2030
Notes were issued at 99.63% of principal and we incurred approximately $13 million of debt issuance costs. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on
March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2021, and the entire outstanding principal amount is due at maturity on September 1, 2030.
The 2030 Notes are unsecured obligations and the indentures governing the 2030 Notes contain customary events of default and covenants that, among
others and subject to exceptions, restrict our ability to incur or guarantee debt secured by liens on specified assets or enter into sale and lease-back
transactions with respect to specified properties.

We hold cash balances with multiple financial institutions in various countries and these balances routinely exceed deposit insurance limits.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $268 million and $252 million, respectively, of non-marketable equity investments in privately held
companies. Recording upward and downward adjustments to the carrying value of our non-marketable equity investments requires quantitative assessments
of the fair value of our non-marketable equity investments using various valuation methodologies and involves the use of estimates. The timing and amount
of observable price changes are influenced by market dynamics that can impact the valuation of our non-marketable equity investments. These changes
could be material based on market conditions and events.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ServiceNow, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ServiceNow, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Subscription revenue recognition - customer contracts with multiple performance obligations

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company enters into contracts that can include various combinations of products and
services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Subscription revenues include self-hosted
offerings in which customers deploy, or the Company grants customers the option to deploy without significant penalty, the Company’s subscription
services internally or contract with a third party to host the software. For these contracts, management accounts for the software element separately from
the related support and updates as they are distinct performance obligations. The transaction price allocated to the software element is recognized when
transfer of control of the software to the customer is complete. The transaction price allocated to the related support and updates are recognized ratably over
the contract term. As disclosed by management, evaluating the terms and conditions included within the Company’s customer contracts for appropriate
revenue recognition and determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately
versus together may require significant judgment. The Company recognized subscription revenues of $8.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to subscription revenue recognition for customer contracts with
multiple performance obligations is a critical audit matter is the matter involved significant audit effort in performing procedures related to management’s
identification of distinct performance obligations.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process, including controls over the
identification of performance obligations and evaluation of the terms and conditions within the customer contracts for appropriate revenue recognition.
These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for identifying distinct performance obligations and evaluating the terms and
conditions within the customer contracts by examining the customer contracts on a test basis for appropriate revenue recognition.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
January 25, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
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SERVICENOW, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except number of shares which are reflected in thousands and per share data)

December 31,
 2023 2022
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,897 $ 1,470 
Short-term investments 2,980 2,810 
Accounts receivable, net 2,036 1,725 
Current portion of deferred commissions 461 369 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 403 280 

Total current assets 7,777 6,654 
Deferred commissions, less current portion 919 742 
Long-term investments 3,203 2,117 
Property and equipment, net 1,358 1,053 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 715 682 
Intangible assets, net 224 232 
Goodwill 1,231 824 
Deferred tax assets 1,508 636 
Other assets 452 359 

Total assets $ 17,387 $ 13,299 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 126 $ 274 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,365 975 
Current portion of deferred revenue 5,785 4,660 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 89 96 

Total current liabilities 7,365 6,005 
Deferred revenue, less current portion 81 70 
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 707 650 
Long-term debt, net 1,488 1,486 
Other long-term liabilities 118 56 

Total liabilities 9,759 8,267 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding — — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value; shares authorized: 600,000; shares issued: 205,619 and 202,882;
shares outstanding: 204,724 and 202,882 — — 
Treasury stock, at cost (shares held: 895 and 0) (535) — 
Additional paid-in capital 6,131 4,796 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (37) (102)
Retained earnings 2,069 338 

Total stockholders’ equity 7,628 5,032 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 17,387 $ 13,299 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SERVICENOW, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions, except number of shares which are reflected in thousands and per share data) 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Revenues:

Subscription $ 8,680 $ 6,891 $ 5,573 
Professional services and other 291 354 323 

Total revenues 8,971 7,245 5,896 
Cost of revenues :

Subscription 1,606 1,187 1,022 
Professional services and other 315 386 331 

Total cost of revenues 1,921 1,573 1,353 
Gross profit 7,050 5,672 4,543 

Operating expenses :
Sales and marketing 3,301 2,814 2,292 
Research and development 2,124 1,768 1,397 
General and administrative 863 735 597 

Total operating expenses 6,288 5,317 4,286 
Income from operations 762 355 257 

Interest income 302 82 20 
Other expense, net (56) (38) (28)

Income before income taxes 1,008 399 249 
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (723) 74 19 

Net income $ 1,731 $ 325 $ 230 
Net income per share - basic $ 8.48 $ 1.61 $ 1.16 
Net income per share - diluted $ 8.42 $ 1.60 $ 1.13 
Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share - basic 204,137 201,430 198,094 
Weighted-average shares used to compute net income per share - diluted 205,591 203,535 203,167 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 27 $ (70) $ (41)
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax 38 (66) (19)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 65 (136) (60)
Comprehensive income $ 1,796 $ 189 $ 170 

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Cost of revenues:

Subscription $ 202 $ 157 $ 128 
Professional services and other 52 67 59 

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 505 459 389 
Research and development 579 495 395 
General and administrative 266 223 160 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

(1)

(1)
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SERVICENOW, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions, except number of shares which are reflected in thousands)

 Common Stock Treasury Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2020 195,845 $ — — $ — $ 2,974 $ (234) $ 94 $ 2,834 

Common stock issued under employee stock
plans 3,227 — — — 168 — — 168 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of
equity awards — — — — (612) — — (612)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,130 — — 1,130 
Shares granted related to business
combinations — — — — 6 — — 6 
Settlement of 2022 Warrants 536 — — — — — — — 
Settlement of 2022 Notes conversion feature — — — — (225) — — (225)
Benefit from exercise of 2022 Note Hedge — — — — 224 — — 224 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — — — — (60) (60)
Net income — — — — — 230 — 230 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 199,608 $ — — $ — $ 3,665 $ (4) $ 34 $ 3,695 
Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2020-06 — — — — (19) 17 — (2)

Common stock issued under employee stock
plans 2,671 — — — 177 — — 177 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of
equity awards — — — — (427) — — (427)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,400 — — 1,400 
Settlement of 2022 Warrants 603 — — — — — — — 
Settlement of 2022 Notes conversion feature — — — — (233) — — (233)
Benefit from exercise of 2022 Note Hedge — — — — 233 — — 233 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — — — — (136) (136)
Net income — — — — — 325 — 325 

Balance as of December 31, 2022 202,882 $ — — $ — $ 4,796 $ 338 $ (102) $ 5,032 
Common stock and Treasury stock issued
under employee stock plans 2,737 — 5 3 190 — — 193 
Common stock repurchased — — (900) (538) — — — (538)
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of
equity awards — — — — (459) — — (459)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,604 — — 1,604 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — — — — 65 65 
Net income — — — — — 1,731 — 1,731 

Balance as of December 31, 2023 205,619 $ — (895) $ (535) $ 6,131 $ 2,069 $ (37) $ 7,628 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SERVICENOW, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 1,731 $ 325 $ 230 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 562 433 472 
Amortization of deferred commissions 459 358 294 
Stock-based compensation 1,604 1,401 1,131 
Deferred income taxes (857) 15 (34)
Other — 17 40 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of business combinations:

Accounts receivable (300) (340) (401)
Deferred commissions (717) (566) (565)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (203) (39) (93)
Accounts payable (142) 172 55 
Deferred revenue 1,085 904 960 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 176 43 102 

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,398 2,723 2,191 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (694) (550) (392)
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (282) (91) (785)
Purchases of investments (4,634) (4,038) (2,485)
Purchases of non-marketable investments (75) (167) (71)
Sales and maturities of investments 3,522 2,245 2,119 
Other (4) 18 7 

Net cash used in investing activities (2,167) (2,583) (1,607)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayments of convertible senior notes attributable to principal — (94) (61)
Proceeds from employee stock plans 194 177 167 
Repurchases of common stock (538) — — 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (459) (427) (612)

Net cash used in financing activities (803) (344) (506)
Foreign currency effect on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1 (53) (25)

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 429 (257) 53 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 1,475 1,732 1,679 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 1,904 $ 1,475 $ 1,732 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,897 $ 1,470 $ 1,728 
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets 7 5 4 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statements of
cash flows $ 1,904 $ 1,475 $ 1,732 
Supplemental disclosures of other cash flow information:

Interest paid $ 23 $ 24 $ 41 
Income taxes paid, net of refunds 127 45 36 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Settlement of 2022 Notes conversion feature — 233 225 
Benefit from exercise of 2022 Note Hedge — 233 224 
Property and equipment included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
liabilities 44 74 63 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SERVICENOW, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to “ServiceNow,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to ServiceNow, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries.

(1) Description of the Business

ServiceNow was founded on a simple premise to make work flow better. Our intelligent platform, the Now Platform, is a cloud-based solution with
embedded artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities that helps global enterprises across industries, universities and governments unify and
digitize their workflows. Our workflow applications built on the Now Platform are organized along four primary areas: Technology, Customer and Industry,
Employee, and Creator. The products under each of our workflows help customers connect, automate and empower work across systems and silos to enable
great outcomes for businesses and great experiences for people. The Now Platform orchestrates work across our customers’ cloud platforms and systems of
choice, allowing our customers to get work done regardless of their current and future preferred systems of record and collaboration platforms.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) and include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated
upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements, as well as reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such management estimates and
assumptions include, but are not limited to, standalone selling price (“SSP”) for each distinct performance obligation included in customer contracts with
multiple performance obligations, the period of benefit for deferred commissions, valuation of intangible assets, the useful life of property and equipment
and identifiable intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In January 2024, we completed an assessment of the useful life of our data center equipment and determined we should increase the estimated useful
life of data center equipment from four to five years. This change in accounting estimate will be effective beginning fiscal year 2024.

Segments
 
Our chief operating decision maker, the Chief Executive Officer, allocates resources and assesses financial performance based upon discrete financial

information at the consolidated level. There are no segment managers who are held accountable by the chief operating decision maker, or anyone else, for
operations, operating results and planning for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we have determined that we operate as
a single operating and reportable segment.

 
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
 
The functional currencies for our foreign subsidiaries are primarily their respective local currencies. Assets and liabilities of the wholly-owned

foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect at each period end. Amounts classified in stockholders’ equity are translated
at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates during the period. The resulting translation adjustments are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a component of stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
included in other expense, net within the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, and have not been material for all periods presented.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control of services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled
to in exchange for those services.

Subscription revenues

Subscription revenues are primarily comprised of subscription fees that give customers access to the ordered subscription service, related support and
updates, if any, to the subscribed service during the subscription term. We recognize subscription revenues ratably over the contract term beginning on the
commencement date of each contract, which is the date we make our services available to our customers. Our contracts with customers typically include a
fixed amount of consideration and are generally non-cancellable and without any refund-type provisions. We typically invoice our customers annually in
advance for our subscription services upon execution of the initial contract or subsequent renewal, and our invoices are typically due within 30 days from
the invoice date.

Subscription revenues also include revenues from self-hosted offerings in which customers deploy, or we grant customers the option to deploy
without significant penalty, our subscription service internally or contract with a third party to host the software. For these contracts, we account for the
software element separately from the related support and updates as they are distinct performance obligations. Refer to the discussion below related to
contracts with multiple performance obligations for further details. The transaction price is allocated to separate performance obligations on a relative SSP
basis. The transaction price allocated to the software element is recognized when transfer of control of the software to the customer is complete. The
transaction price allocated to the related support and updates are recognized ratably over the contract term.

Professional services and other revenues

Our professional services arrangements are primarily on a time-and-materials basis, and we generally invoice our customers monthly in arrears for
these professional services based on actual hours and expenses incurred. Some of our professional services arrangements are on a fixed fee. Professional
services revenues are recognized as services are delivered. Other revenues mainly consist of fees from customer training delivered on-site or through
publicly available classes. Typical payment terms require our customers to pay us within 30 days from the invoice date.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of products and services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted
for as separate performance obligations. We evaluate the terms and conditions included within our customer contracts to ensure appropriate revenue
recognition, including whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus
together. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP
basis. We determine SSP by considering the historical selling price of these performance obligations in similar transactions as well as other factors,
including, but not limited to, competitive pricing of similar products, other software vendor pricing, industry publications and current pricing practices.

Contract balances

Deferred revenue consists primarily of payments received related to unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of the period. Once our services
are available to customers, we record amounts due in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue. To the extent we bill customers in advance of the billing
period commencement date, the accounts receivable and corresponding deferred revenue amounts are netted to zero on our consolidated balance sheets,
unless such amounts have been paid as of the balance sheet date.

Customer deposits primarily relate to payments received from customers which could be refundable pursuant to the terms of the contract and are
presented under accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.
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Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions are the incremental selling costs that are associated with acquiring customer contracts and consist primarily of sales
commissions paid to our sales organization and referral fees paid to independent third parties. Deferred commissions also include the associated payroll
taxes and fringe benefit costs associated with payments to our sales employees to the extent they are incremental. Commissions and referral fees earned
upon the execution of initial and expansion contracts are primarily deferred and amortized over a period of benefit that we have determined to be five years.
Commissions earned upon the renewal of customer contracts are deferred and amortized over the average renewal term. Additionally, for self-hosted
offerings, consistent with the recognition of subscription revenue for self-hosted offerings, a portion of the commission cost is expensed upfront when the
self-hosted offering is made available, and the remaining portion of the commission cost is expensed over the period of benefit. We determine the period of
benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life cycle and other factors. The amortization of deferred commissions is
included in sales and marketing expense in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income. There was no impairment loss in relation to the
incremental selling costs capitalized for all periods presented.

Fair Value Measurements
 
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous

market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. We use a fair value hierarchy that is based
on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as
follows:

 
Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2—Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace; and
Level 3— Significant unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original or remaining maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase.
 
Accounts Receivable, net

We record trade accounts receivable at the net invoice value and such receivables are non-interest bearing. We consider receivables past due based on
the contractual payment terms. We reserve for specific amounts if collectability is no longer reasonably assured based on assessment of various factors
including historical loss rates and expectations of forward-looking loss estimates. Individual accounts receivable are written off when we become aware of
a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligation, and all collection efforts are exhausted.

Investments
 
Investments consist of commercial paper, corporate notes and bonds, certificates of deposit, U.S. government and agency securities and mortgage-

backed and asset-backed securities. We classify investments in debt securities as available-for-sale at the time of purchase. All investments are recorded at
estimated fair value and investments with original maturities of less than one year at time of purchase is classified as short-term. Unrealized gains and
losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, a component of stockholders’ equity, except for credit-related
impairment losses for available-for-sale debt securities.
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For all our available-for-sale debt securities with unrealized loss positions we have determined it is more likely than not we will hold the securities
until maturity or a recovery of the cost basis. Available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position are written down to its fair value with the
corresponding charge recorded in other expense, net on our consolidated statement of comprehensive income, if it is more likely than not that we will be
required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, or we have the intention to sell the security. Credit-related impairment losses, not to
exceed the amount that fair value is less than the amortized cost basis, are recognized through an allowance for credit losses with changes in the allowance
for credit losses recorded in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. For purposes of identifying and measuring
impairment, the policy election was made to exclude the applicable accrued interest from both the fair value and amortized cost basis. Applicable accrued
interest, net of the allowance for credit losses (if any) of $51 million and $28 million, is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Realized gains and losses from the sales of available-for-sale debt securities are determined based on the specific identification method and are
reported in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Strategic Investments

Strategic investments consist of debt and non-marketable equity investments in privately held companies in which we do not have a controlling
interest. We have elected to apply the measurement alternative for equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values, measuring them at
cost, less any impairment, plus or minus adjustments resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar
investment of the same issuer. An impairment loss is recorded when an event or circumstance indicates a decline in value has occurred. We include these
strategic investments in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets.

 
Derivative Financial Instruments

We use derivative financial instruments, mainly foreign currency forward contracts with maturities of 12 months or less, to manage foreign currency
risks. These derivative contracts are not designated as hedging instruments and changes in the fair value are recorded in other expense, net on the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Outstanding foreign currency forward contracts are recorded at gross fair value as prepaid expenses and
other current assets as well as accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains (losses) from settlement of
the derivative assets and liabilities are classified as investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Property and Equipment, net
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Computer equipment and software   3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures   3-7 years
Leasehold and other improvements   shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Software development costs for software to be sold, leased or otherwise marketed are expensed as incurred until the establishment of technological
feasibility, at which time those costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers and amortized over the estimated life of
the product. Costs and time incurred between the establishment of technological feasibility and product release have not been material, and all software
development costs have been charged to research and development expense in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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Leases
 
We determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease

commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease payments consist primarily of the fixed payments under the
arrangement, less any lease incentives. We generally use an incremental borrowing rate estimated based on the information available at the lease
commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments, unless the implicit rate is readily determinable. Lease expense for lease payments is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

We account for lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for office leases. Lease and non-lease components for all other leases are
generally accounted for separately. Additionally, we do not record leases on the balance sheet that, at the lease commencement date, have a lease term of 12
months or less.

Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, current portion of operating lease liabilities, and operating lease liabilities, less
current portion in our consolidated balance sheets. We did not have any financing leases in any of the periods presented.

Business Combinations

We allocate the acquisition purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of these assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. Allocation of the purchase
price requires significant estimates in determining the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, especially with respect to intangible assets.
Critical estimates include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows, discount rates, revenue growth rates, the time and expense to recreate the
assets and profit margin a market participant would receive. These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may
differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which may not be later than one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record
adjustments to the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment at least annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate that goodwill may not be recoverable. A
qualitative assessment is performed to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If
the reporting unit does not pass the qualitative assessment, the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is compared to fair value and
goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Any excess of the carrying value of the goodwill above its
fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.

Intangible assets consist of developed technologies and other intangible assets, including patents and contractual agreements. Intangible assets are
amortized over the period of estimated benefit using the straight-line method and estimated useful lives ranging from three to twelve years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets, including purchased intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the future undiscounted cash flows
we expect the asset to generate. Any excess of the carrying value of the asset above its fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, excluding costs related to our annual Knowledge user conference and other user forums, are expensed as incurred and are included
in sales and marketing expense. These costs for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $221 million, $201 million and $198 million,
respectively.
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Stock-based Compensation
 
We recognize compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with only service conditions on a straight-line basis

over the requisite service period. For stock options and RSUs with service, performance and market conditions (performance-based RSUs (“PRSUs”)),
expenses are recognized on a graded vesting basis over the requisite service period and for awards with performance conditions, when it is probable that the
performance condition will be achieved. The probability of achievement is assessed periodically to determine whether the performance metric continues to
be probable. When there is a change in the probability of achievement, any cumulative effect of the change is recognized in the period of the change and
the remaining unrecognized compensation will be amortized prospectively over the respective vesting period. We recognize compensation expense related
to shares issued pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) on a straight-line basis over the six-month offering period. We recognize
compensation expense net of estimated forfeiture activity. Amounts withheld related to the minimum statutory tax withholding requirements paid by us on
behalf of our employees are recorded as a liability and a reduction to additional paid-in capital when paid and are included as a reduction of cash flows
from financing activities.

We estimate the fair value of stock options with only service conditions and shares issued pursuant to the ESPP using the Black-Scholes options
pricing model and the fair value of RSU awards (including PRSUs) using the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. For stock options and
PRSUs with service, performance and market conditions, we estimate the fair value of the options granted and the corresponding derived service periods
using the Monte Carlo simulation, which requires the use of various assumptions, including the stock price volatility and risk-free interest rate as of the
valuation date corresponding to the length of time remaining in the performance period.

 
Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
 
Financial instruments potentially exposing us to credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, derivative contracts, investments and accounts

receivable. We hold cash at financial institutions that management believes are high credit quality financial institutions and invest in investment-grade debt
securities. Our derivative contracts expose us to credit risk to the extent that the counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the arrangement. We
mitigate this credit risk by transacting with major financial institutions with high credit ratings and entering into master netting arrangements, which permit
net settlement of transactions with the same counterparty. We are not required to pledge, and are not entitled to receive, cash collateral related to these
derivative instruments.

 
Credit risk arising from accounts receivable is mitigated to a certain extent due to our large number of customers and their dispersion across various

industries and geographies. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no customers that represented more than 10% of our accounts receivable
balance. There were no customers that individually exceeded 10% of our total revenues in any of the periods presented. For purposes of assessing
concentration of credit risk and significant customers, a group of customers under common control or customers that are affiliates of each other are
regarded as a single customer. The allowance for credit losses and write offs were not material for each of the periods ending December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

Income Taxes 

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, in which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be reversed. We recognize the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates within the provision for
income taxes as income and expense in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than not that all
or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining the need for a valuation allowance, we consider future growth, forecasted earnings,
forecasted taxable income, the mix of earnings in the jurisdictions in which we operate, historical earnings, taxable income in prior years, if carryback is
permitted under the law, carryforward periods and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.
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Our tax positions are subject to income tax audits by multiple tax jurisdictions throughout the world. We recognize the tax benefit of an uncertain tax
position only if it is more likely than not the position is sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority, based on the technical merits. We measure the
tax benefit recognized as the largest amount of benefit which is more likely than not to be realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize
interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in our tax provision.

We calculate the current and deferred income tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed in subsequent years and record adjustments based on filed income tax returns when identified. The amount of income taxes paid is
subject to examination by U.S. federal, state and foreign tax authorities. The estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to
management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumstances existing at that time. To the extent the assessment of such tax position changes, we
record the change in estimate in the period in which we make the determination.

Prior Period Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications did not result in a
restatement of prior period consolidated financial statements. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement Pending Adoption

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-09, “Income Taxes -
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures” requiring enhancements and further transparency to certain income tax disclosures, most notably the tax rate
reconciliation and income taxes paid. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis and retrospective
application is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard.
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(3) Investments

Marketable Debt Securities

The following is a summary of our available-for-sale debt securities recorded within short-term and long-term investments on the consolidated
balance sheets (in millions):

 December 31, 2023

Amortized
 Cost

Gross
 Unrealized

 Gains

Gross
 Unrealized

 Losses
Estimated

 Fair Value
Available-for-sale debt securities:

Commercial paper $ 349 $ — $ — $ 349 
Corporate notes and bonds 3,579 10 (13) 3,576 
Certificates of deposit 94 — — 94 
U.S. government and agency securities 2,081 3 (6) 2,078 
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 102 — (16) 86 

Total available-for-sale debt securities $ 6,205 $ 13 $ (35) $ 6,183 

December 31, 2022

Amortized
 Cost

Gross
 Unrealized

 Gains

Gross
 Unrealized

 Losses
Estimated

 Fair Value
Available-for-sale debt securities:

Commercial paper $ 558 $ — $ (2) $ 556 
Corporate notes and bonds 3,414 — (52) 3,362 
Certificates of deposit 162 — — 162 
U.S. government and agency securities 768 — (2) 766 
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities 98 — (17) 81 

Total available-for-sale debt securities $ 5,000 $ — $ (73) $ 4,927 

As of December 31, 2023, the contractual maturities of our available-for-sale debt securities, excluding those securities classified within cash and
cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet and mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities that do not have a single maturity, did not exceed 37
months. The fair values of available-for-sale debt securities, by remaining contractual maturity, are as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2023
Due within 1 year $ 2,980 
Due in 1 year through 5 years 3,117 
Instruments not due in single maturity 86 
Total $ 6,183 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities in a continuous unrealized loss position totaled $3,731 million
and $4,232 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, unrealized losses of $26 million from available-for-sale debt securities are from securities in a
continuous unrealized loss position greater than 12 months.
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For all available-for-sale debt securities that were in unrealized loss positions, we have determined that it is more likely than not we will hold the
securities until maturity or a recovery of the cost basis. Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities were primarily due to changes in market
interest rates, and credit-related impairment losses were not material as of December 31, 2023.

Non-Marketable Equity Investments

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the total amount of non-marketable equity investments in privately held companies included in other assets on
our consolidated balance sheets was $268 million and $252 million, respectively. These balances include a $100 million investment in the common and
preferred shares of Celonis SE, a privately held company that develops and sells process mining software. Our non-marketable equity investments are
primarily accounted for using the measurement alternative, which measures the investments at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes
resulting from qualifying observable price changes resulting from the issuance of similar or identical securities in an orderly transaction by the same issuer.
Determining whether an observed transaction is similar to a security within our portfolio requires judgment based on the rights and preferences of the
securities. Recording upward and downward adjustments to the carrying value of our non-marketable equity investments as a result of observable price
changes requires quantitative assessments of the fair value of our non-marketable equity investments using various valuation methodologies and involves
the use of estimates. The adjustments made during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were immaterial. We classify these fair value
measurements as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.

(4) Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents our fair value hierarchy for our assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 (in millions): 

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 1,215 $ — $ 1,215 
Commercial paper — 79 79 
Corporate notes and bonds — 2 2 
Deposits 295 — 295 
U.S. government and agency securities — 4 4 

Marketable securities:
Commercial paper — 349 349 
Corporate notes and bonds — 3,576 3,576 
Certificates of deposit — 94 94 
U.S. government and agency securities — 2,078 2,078 
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities — 86 86 

Total $ 1,510 $ 6,268 $ 7,778 

65



Table of Contents

The following table presents our fair value hierarchy for our assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 (in millions): 

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 738 $ — $ 738 
Commercial paper — 36 36 
Corporate notes and bonds — 10 10 
Certificates of deposit — 2 2 
Deposits 124 — 124 
U.S. government and agency securities — 8 8 

Marketable securities:
Commercial paper — 556 556 
Corporate notes and bonds — 3,362 3,362 
Certificates of deposit — 162 162 
U.S. government and agency securities — 766 766 
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities — 81 81 

Total $ 862 $ 4,983 $ 5,845 

We determine the fair value of our security holdings based on pricing from our service providers and market prices from industry-standard
independent data providers. Such market prices may be quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs), pricing determined using inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs) or using unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no
market activity (Level 3 inputs). Our non-marketable equity investments are not included in the table above and are discussed in Note 3. See Note 8 for the
fair value measurement of our derivative contracts and Note 11 for the fair value measurement of our long-term debt, which are also not included in the
table above. Our marketable equity investments are classified within Level 1 and are immaterial as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(5) Business Combinations

2023 Business Combinations

On July 17, 2023, we acquired all outstanding shares of G2K Group GmbH, an artificial intelligence powered platform, for $464 million in a cash
transaction. The consideration is paid in two installments. The first installment was made at the close of the transaction in July 2023. The second
installment will be paid in February 2024 and is recognized as accrued expenses and other current liabilities, which is a non-cash financing activity as of
December 31, 2023. The acquisition is intended to enhance our Now Platform with the acquired smart Internet of Things technology, enabling businesses
to intelligently action digital and in-store data with enterprise-grade workflows.

The purchase price was preliminarily allocated based on the estimated fair value of the developed technology intangible asset of $75 million (six-year
estimated useful life), net tangible liabilities of $1 million, deferred tax liabilities of $23 million and goodwill of $413 million, which is not deductible for
income tax purposes.

Goodwill is primarily attributed to the value expected from synergies resulting from the business combination. The fair values assigned to tangible
and intangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and income taxes payable and deferred taxes are based on management’s estimates and assumptions. The
provisional measurements of fair value for certain assets and liabilities, which encompass primarily deferred taxes and income taxes payable, may be
subject to change as additional information is received. The Company expects to finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year
from the acquisition date.
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2022 Business Combinations

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we completed certain acquisitions for total purchase consideration of $92 million primarily to enhance our
products with the acquired technology and engineering workforce. The acquisitions were not material to our consolidated financial statements, either
individually or in the aggregate.

2021 Business Combinations

On June 15, 2021, we acquired Lightstep, Inc., a leading observability solution provider, for $512 million in a cash transaction. The purchase price
was allocated based on the estimated fair value of developed technology intangible asset of $85 million (five-year estimated useful life), customer related
and brand assets of $11 million, net tangible assets of $8 million, deferred tax liabilities of $6 million and goodwill of $413 million, which is not deductible
for income tax purposes.

On January 8, 2021, we acquired all outstanding stock of Element AI Inc., a leading enterprise artificial intelligence solution provider, for $228
million in an all-cash transaction. The purchase price was allocated based on the estimated fair value of developed technology intangible asset of $85
million (five-year estimated useful life), net tangible assets of $16 million and goodwill of $81 million, which is partially deductible for income tax
purposes. At time of acquisition, we established an unrecognized tax benefit of $43 million on pre-acquisition net operating loss carryforwards and other
tax attributes which was subsequently released resulting in establishment of deferred tax asset based on completion of valuation and filing certain tax
returns in the third quarter of 2021.

Goodwill is primarily attributed to the value expected from synergies resulting from the business combinations. The fair values assigned to tangible
and intangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and income taxes payable and deferred taxes are based on management’s estimates and assumptions. The
Company finalized the fair value measurements within one year from the acquisition date.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we also completed certain acquisitions for total purchase consideration of $66 million primarily to
enhance our products with the acquired technology and engineering workforce. These acquisitions were not material to our consolidated financial
statements, either individually or in the aggregate.

We have included the financial results of business combinations in the consolidated financial statements from the respective dates of acquisition,
which were not material. Aggregate acquisition-related costs associated with business combinations are not material for each of the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are included in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of comprehensive
income as incurred.

(6) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill were as follows (in millions):

Carrying Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 777 
Goodwill acquired 68 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (21)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 824 
Goodwill acquired 413 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (6)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,231 
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Intangible assets consist of the following (in millions):

 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Developed technology $ 516 $ 434 
Patents 72 72 
Other 11 15 

Intangible assets, gross $ 599 $ 521 
Less: accumulated amortization (375) (289)

Intangible assets, net $ 224 $ 232 

The weighted-average useful life of the acquired developed technology for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was approximately
five years. Amortization expense for intangible assets was approximately $85 million, $81 million and $76 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table presents the estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets held as of  December 31, 2023 (in millions):

Years Ending December 31,
2024 $ 84 
2025 63 
2026 33 
2027 19 
2028 15 
Thereafter 10 

Total future amortization expense $ 224 

(7) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in millions):

 December 31,
 2023 2022
Computer equipment $ 2,136 $ 1,606 
Computer software 96 82 
Leasehold and other improvements 292 226 
Furniture and fixtures 86 81 
Construction in progress 33 53 

Property and equipment, gross 2,643 2,048 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,285) (995)

Property and equipment, net $ 1,358 $ 1,053 

Construction in progress consists of costs primarily related to leasehold and other improvements. Depreciation expense was $372 million, $261
million and $312 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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(8) Derivative Contracts

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had foreign currency forward contracts with total notional values of $1,727 million and $1,360 million,
respectively, which are not designated as hedging instruments. Our foreign currency forward contracts are classified within Level 2 as the valuation inputs
are based on quoted prices and market observable data of similar instruments in active markets, such as currency spot and forward rates. The gross fair
value of these foreign currency forward contracts was immaterial as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The gains (losses) recognized for these foreign
currency forward contracts were immaterial for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

(9) Deferred Revenue and Performance Obligations

Revenues recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023 from amounts included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2022 were $4.6
billion. Revenues recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022 from amounts included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2021 were $3.7
billion.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations (“RPO”) represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which
includes deferred revenue and non-cancellable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenues in future periods. RPO excludes contracts that are
billed in arrears, such as certain time and materials contracts, as we apply the “right to invoice” practical expedient under relevant accounting guidance.

As of December 31, 2023, the total non-cancellable RPO under our contracts with customers was $18.0 billion, and we expect to recognize revenues
on approximately 48% of these RPO over the following 12 months. The majority of the non-current RPO will be recognized over the next 13 to 36 months.

(10) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in millions):

 December 31,
 2023 2022
Accrued payroll $ 650 $ 490 
Taxes payable 123 109 
Other employee-related liabilities 167 150 
Other 425 226 

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,365 $ 975 
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(11) Debt

For the periods ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying value of our outstanding debt was $1,488 million and $1,486 million, respectively,
net of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs of $12 million and $14 million, respectively.

We consider the fair value of the 2030 Notes as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 to be a Level 2 measurement. The estimated fair value
of the 2030 Notes based on the closing trading price per $100, was $1,236 million and $1,144 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively.

2030 Notes

In August 2020, we issued 1.40% fixed rate ten-year notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion due on September 1, 2030 (the “2030
Notes”). The 2030 Notes were issued at 99.63% of principal and we incurred $13 million for debt issuance costs. The effective interest rate for the 2030
Notes was 1.53% and included interest payable, amortization of debt issuance cost and amortization of the debt discount. Interest is payable semi-annually
in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2021, and the entire outstanding principal amount is due at maturity on
September 1, 2030. The 2030 Notes are unsecured obligations and the indentures governing the 2030 Notes contain customary events of default and
covenants that, among others and subject to exceptions, restrict our ability to incur or guarantee debt secured by liens on specified assets or enter into sale
and lease-back transactions with respect to specified properties.

2022 Notes, Note Hedge and Warrants

In May and June 2017, we issued an aggregate of $782.5 million of 0% convertible senior notes (the “2022 Notes”), which were converted prior to or
settled on June 1, 2022, in accordance with their terms.

Convertible Date
Initial Conversion

Price per Share

Initial Conversion
Rate per $1,000 Par

Value
Initial Number of

Shares
(in millions)

2022 Notes February 1, 2022 $ 134.75 7.42 shares 6 

To minimize the impact of potential economic dilution upon conversion of the 2022 Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions (the
“2022 Note Hedge”) with certain investment banks to purchase 6 million shares for $128 million with respect to our common stock concurrently with the
issuance of the 2022 Notes. The 2022 Note Hedge offsets the dilution and cash payments in excess of the principal amount of the converted 2022 Notes
and expired upon the maturity date of the 2022 Notes, which was on June 1, 2022.

Separately, we entered into warrant transactions with certain investment banks, whereby we sold warrants to acquire 6 million shares of our common
stock with aggregate proceeds of $54 million (the “2022 Warrants”). The 2022 Warrants were separate transactions and were not remeasured through
earnings each reporting period. The 2022 Warrants were not part of the 2022 Notes or 2022 Note Hedge.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2022, we settled the remaining portion of the 2022 Warrants by delivering an aggregate of 0.6 million shares of our
common stock. Accordingly, the 2022 Warrants were no longer outstanding as of June 30, 2022.
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(12) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table shows the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, in the stockholders’ equity section of our
consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

 December 31,
 2023 2022
Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 2 $ (25)
Net unrealized loss on investments (39) (77)
        Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (37) $ (102)

Reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive loss into net income were not material for all periods presented.

(13) Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

We are authorized to issue a total of 600 million shares of common stock as of December 31, 2023. Holders of our common stock are not entitled to
receive dividends unless declared by our board of directors. As of December 31, 2023, we had 204.7 million shares of common stock, net of treasury stock,
outstanding and had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows (in thousands): 

 December 31, 2023
Stock plans:

Options outstanding 1,150 
RSUs 6,262 
Shares of common stock available for future grants:

Amended and Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 11,908 
Amended and Restated 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 8,508 

Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuance 27,828 

 
(1) Represents the number of shares issuable upon settlement of outstanding restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance-based RSUs (“PRSUs”), as discussed in Note 14.
(2) Refer to Note 14 for a description of these plans.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we issued a total of 2.7 million shares from stock option exercises, vesting of RSUs,
net of employee payroll taxes and purchases from the employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”).

Treasury Stock

In May 2023, our board of directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $1.5 billion of our common stock (the “Share Repurchase Program”).
Under this new program, we may repurchase our common stock from time to time through open market purchases, in privately negotiated transactions, or
by other means, including through the use of trading plans intended to qualify under Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
in accordance with applicable securities laws and other restrictions. The Share Repurchase Program does not have a fixed expiration date, may be
suspended or discontinued at any time, and does not obligate us to acquire any amount of common stock. The timing, manner, price, and amount of any
repurchases will be determined by us at our discretion and will depend on a variety of factors, including business, economic and market conditions,
prevailing stock prices, corporate and regulatory requirements, and other considerations.

(1)

(2)

(2)
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 0.9 million shares of its common stock for $538 million. All repurchases were
made in open market transactions. Repurchases of common stock are recognized as treasury stock and held for future issuance. As of December 31, 2023,
$962 million of the originally authorized amount remained available for future repurchases.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by stockholders, to issue up to 10 million shares of preferred stock in one or more
series. Our board of directors may designate the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion
rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preference and number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series. The issuance
of preferred stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on our common stock, diluting the voting power of our common stock, impairing the
liquidation rights of our common stock or delaying or preventing a change in control. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, no shares of preferred stock
were outstanding.

(14) Equity Awards

We currently have three equity incentive plans: 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”), amended and restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2021 Plan”) and 2022 New-Hire Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”). The 2012 Plan was terminated in connection with the initial approval of the
2021 Plan on June 7, 2021 but continues to govern the terms of outstanding equity awards that were granted prior to the termination of the 2012 Plan. As of
June 7, 2021, we no longer grant equity awards pursuant to the 2012 Plan. The 2021 Plan, as amended and restated, was approved by the shareholders on
June 1, 2023 to increase shares available for future grants by approximately 10 million shares. Upon effectiveness of the 2021 Plan, as amended and
restated, the 2022 Plan was terminated, and no additional awards under the 2022 Plan have been made since the amendment and restatement of the 2021
Plan. Outstanding equity awards under the 2022 Plan continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2022 Plan.

The 2021 Plan and the 2012 Plan provide for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSUs,
performance-based stock awards and other forms of equity compensation (collectively, “equity awards”). The 2022 Plan permits the grant of any of the
foregoing awards with the exception of incentive stock options. In addition, the 2022 Plan, the 2021 Plan and the 2012 Plan provide for the grant of
performance cash awards. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees. All other equity awards may be granted to employees, including
officers, as well as directors and consultants.

Our Amended and Restated 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2012 ESPP”) authorizes the issuance of shares of common stock pursuant to
purchase rights granted to our employees. The price at which common stock is purchased under the 2012 ESPP is equal to 85% of the fair market value of
our common stock on the first or last day of the offering period, whichever is lower. Offering periods are six months long and begin on February 1 and
August 1 of each year. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance will not be increased without shareholder approval.

Stock Options

Stock options are exercisable at a price equal to the market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the date of the grant as determined by
the closing price of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 2012 Plan to new
employees generally vest 25% one year from the date the requisite service period begins and continue to vest monthly for each month of continued
employment over the remaining three years. Options granted generally are exercisable for a period of up to ten years contingent on each holder’s
continuous status as a service provider.
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A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows:

Number of
 Shares

Weighted-
 Average

 Exercise
 Price Per Share

Weighted-
 Average

 Remaining
 Contractual
 Term

Aggregate
 Intrinsic Value

(in thousands) (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1,237 $ 590.36 

Exercised (32) $ 68.06 $ 15 
Forfeited (55) $ 625.99 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1,150 $ 603.30 7.4 $ 119 
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 948 $ 588.32 7.4 $ 112 
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2023 150 $ 203.79 5.1 $ 75 

 
Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the estimated fair value of our common stock and the exercise price of outstanding, in-

the-money options. The total intrinsic value for stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, was $15 million, $40
million and $140 million, respectively.

The total fair value of shares vested was $7 million, $11 million and $10 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
No stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2023. The weighted-average grant-date fair values of stock options granted was
$273.63 and $248.85 per share for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, a one-time long-term performance-based option award was granted to the Chief Executive Officer (“2021

CEO Performance Award”) and to certain executives (collectively “2021 Performance Awards”) under the 2021 Plan at a total grant date fair value of
$232 million. The 2021 Performance Awards will vest in eight equal tranches based on service and achievement of both performance and market
conditions, subject to continued employment and specifically for the 2021 CEO Performance Award, as CEO or Executive Chairman of the Company,
through each vesting date. The performance and market condition for a particular tranche may be achieved at different points in time and in any order but
will become eligible to vest only when all service, performance and market conditions for the respective tranche are met but no earlier than two years. The
performance and market condition must be achieved by September 30, 2026 (the “Performance Period”). The stock price metric will be achieved when
both the 180-Day volume weighted-average price (“VWAP”) and the 30-day VWAP equal or exceed the respective tranche stock price metric on any day
during the Performance Period. The performance metric is achieved when the trailing four quarter cumulative GAAP subscription revenues equal or exceed
the respective tranche performance target. Shares acquired upon exercise of the options cannot be sold, transferred or disposed until after the end of the
Performance Period and the 2021 Performance Awards will expire ten years from the respective date of grant. As of December 31, 2023, none of the
tranches have vested.

The fair value of the 2021 Performance Awards and the corresponding derived service periods were estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation.
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a graded vesting basis over the requisite service period for each respective tranche, but not shorter than
the two-year minimum service period, and includes an assessment of when it is probable the performance condition will be achieved, which involves a
subjective assessment of our future financial projection.

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock options was
approximately $28 million. The weighted-average remaining vesting period of unvested stock options as of December 31, 2023 was one year.
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RSUs

A summary of RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows:

Number of
 Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value Per Share

(in thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 5,737 $ 505.79 

Granted 4,134 $ 479.18 
Vested (3,096) $ 469.20 
Forfeited (513) $ 506.98 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 6,262 $ 506.77 
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 5,553 

RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2023 were comprised of 5.8 million RSUs with only service conditions and 0.5 million RSUs with both
service conditions and performance conditions, including certain RSUs with additional market conditions. The total intrinsic value of the RSUs vested was
$1.6 billion, $1.5 billion and $2.1 billion for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate
intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding was $4.4 billion and RSUs expected to vest was $3.9 billion. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs
granted was $479.18, $541.24 and $577.26 per share for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, PRSUs with service, performance and market vesting criteria are considered as eligible to
vest when approved by the compensation committee of our board of directors in January of the year following the grant. The ultimate number of shares
eligible to vest for PRSUs range from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares depending on achievement relative to the performance metrics and, for
certain PRSUs, depend on our total shareholder return relative to that of the S&P 500 index over the applicable measurement period. The eligible shares
subject to PRSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 will vest in February of the following year and semi-annually for the remaining two
years contingent on each holder’s continuous status as a service provider on the applicable vesting dates. The number of PRSUs granted included in the
table above reflects the shares that could be eligible to vest at 100% of target for PRSUs and includes adjustments for over or under achievement for
PRSUs granted in the prior year.

We recognized $145 million, $121 million, and $124 million of stock-based compensation expense, net of actual and estimated forfeitures, associated
with PRSUs on a graded vesting basis during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to unvested RSUs was $2.5 billion and the
weighted-average remaining vesting period was approximately three years.

Total stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $1,604 million, $1,401 million and
$1,131 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded $296 million of tax benefits on total stock-based compensation expense,
which are reflected in the benefit from income taxes in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Tax benefits on stock-based compensation
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were not material.

74



Table of Contents

Valuation Assumptions

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes options pricing model and the Monte Carlo simulation model, to estimate our stock-based
compensation on the date of grant for ESPP, stock options and PRSUs, respectively, as applicable.
 Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Risk-Free Interest Rate

ESPP 2.96% - 5.39% 0.06% - 2.96% 0.06% - 0.11%
Stock Options * 2.04% 1.20% - 1.45%
PRSU 4.34% 1.76% 0.19% - 0.20%

Expected Term (in years)
ESPP 0.5 0.5 0.5
Stock Options * 10 7.5 - 10

Expected Volatility
ESPP 33% - 59% 35% - 59% 35% - 60%
Stock Options * 40% 38% - 41%
PRSU 45% 42% 41% - 42%

* There were no stock option grants in 2023.

Expected volatility. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our common stock for a period similar to our expected term.
Expected term. We determine the expected term based on historical experience of similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the

stock-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior. We estimate the expected term for ESPP using the purchase period.
Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the

stock-based award.
Expected dividend yield. Our expected dividend yield is zero, as we have not and do not currently intend to declare dividends in the foreseeable

future. 

(15) Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, adjusted for the effects of
dilutive shares of common stock, which are comprised of outstanding stock options, RSUs, ESPP obligations, the 2022 Notes and the 2022 Warrants. Stock
awards with performance or market conditions are included in dilutive shares to the extent all conditions are met. The dilutive potential shares of common
stock are computed using the treasury stock method or the as-if converted method, as applicable. The effects of outstanding stock options, RSUs, ESPP
obligations, 2022 Notes and 2022 Warrants are excluded from the computation of diluted net income per share in periods in which the effect would be
antidilutive.
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The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders (in millions, except for
number of shares reflected in thousands and per share data):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Numerator:

Net income $ 1,731 $ 325 $ 230 
Denominator:

Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 204,137 201,430 198,094 
Weighted-average effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Common stock options 120 117 293 
RSUs 1,332 1,555 3,429 
ESPP Obligations 2 — — 
2022 Notes — — 535 
2022 Notes settlements — 280 116 
2022 Warrants — — 649 
Settlement of 2022 Warrants — 153 51 

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 205,591 203,535 203,167 

Net income per share - basic $ 8.48 $ 1.61 $ 1.16 

Net income per share - diluted $ 8.42 $ 1.60 $ 1.13 
Common stock options, RSUs, and ESPP obligations excluded from diluted net
income per share because their effect would have been anti-dilutive 3,191 4,658 1,588 
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(16) (Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

The components of income before income taxes by U.S. and foreign jurisdictions were as follows (in millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
United States $ 523 $ 173 $ 152 
Foreign 485 226 97 
Total $ 1,008 $ 399 $ 249 

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes consists of the following (in millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Current provision:

Federal $ 2 $ — $ — 
State 31 13 1 
Foreign 101 46 52 

134 59 53 
Deferred provision:

Federal (750) (1) (3)
State (135) (1) (3)
Foreign 28 17 (28)

(857) 15 (34)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (723) $ 74 $ 19 

The effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory income tax rate applied to the income before income taxes due to the following (in
millions):     

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

Tax computed at U.S. federal statutory rate $ 212 $ 84 $ 53 
State taxes, net of federal benefit 47 10 — 
U.S. tax on foreign earnings 42 96 — 
Tax rate differential for international subsidiaries 29 18 6 
Stock-based compensation 25 7 (160)
Executive compensation 32 22 23 
Tax credits (93) (70) (76)
Other 15 7 4 
Valuation allowance (1,032) (100) 169 
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (723) $ 74 $ 19 
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets are shown below (in millions). A valuation allowance has been recognized to offset our deferred
tax assets, as necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on evidence, are not expected to be realized.

 December 31,
 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 257 $ 605 
Credit carryforwards 476 388 
Lease liability 184 178 
Capitalized research and development 324 262 
Depreciation and amortization 552 553 
Other 167 159 

Total deferred tax assets 1,960 2,145 
Less: valuation allowance (196) (1,228)

1,764 917 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Right of use asset (165) (162)
Other (131) (129)

Net deferred tax assets $ 1,468 $ 626 

The unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not considered indefinitely reinvested, except in certain designated jurisdictions in which the
resident entity is a service provider that is not expected to generate substantial amounts of cash in excess of what may be reinvested by the local entity. We
have not provided for state income or withholding taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered indefinitely invested
outside of the U.S. The amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability on these undistributed earnings is not material as of December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, we had U.S. federal net operating loss and federal tax credit carryforwards of $470 million and $404 million, respectively.
The federal tax credits will begin to expire in 2033 if not utilized. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, we had state net operating loss and state tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $1.0 billion and $272 million, respectively. The state net operating loss will begin to expire in 2024 if not utilized;
however, the tax-effected amount due to expire in 2024 is immaterial. State tax credits and a portion of the federal net operating loss carryforwards can be
carried forward indefinitely. Utilization of our net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such an annual limitation could result in the expiration of the net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.

As of December 31, 2023, we had Canada net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards of $170 million and $11 million, respectively. The Canada
net operating loss and tax credits will begin to expire in 2039 and 2037, respectively, if not utilized. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, we had United
Kingdom net operating loss carryforwards of $145 million. The United Kingdom net operating loss can be carried forward indefinitely.
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The income tax benefit was $723 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The income tax benefit was primarily attributable to the release of
the valuation allowance of certain U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. We regularly assess the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax
assets. In making that assessment, we consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to
determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of
June 30, 2023, we achieved cumulative U.S. income during the prior twelve quarters when considering pre-tax income adjusted for permanent differences
and other comprehensive losses. Based on all available positive and negative evidence, having demonstrated sustained profitability which is objective and
verifiable, and taking into account anticipated future earnings, we concluded it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets will
be realizable, with the exception of California. We continue to maintain a valuation allowance against our California deferred tax assets due to the
uncertainty regarding realizability of these deferred tax assets as they have not met the “more likely than not” realization criteria, particularly as we expect
research and development tax credit generation to exceed our ability to use the credits in future years. Of the $1.2 billion valuation allowance as of
December 31, 2022, we released $1.05 billion of our valuation allowance during the year ended December 31, 2023. We maintained a valuation allowance
of $196 million against our California deferred tax assets. We will continue to monitor the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets on
a quarterly basis.

The decrease in the 2023 valuation allowance of $1.03 billion was primarily attributable to the $1.05 billion release of certain U.S. federal and state
valuation allowance offset by approximately a $20 million increase in the California valuation allowance. The $98 million decrease in the 2022 valuation
allowance was primarily attributable to a decrease in deferred tax assets related to the utilization of net operating losses. The $197 million increase in the
2021 valuation allowance was primarily attributable to an increase in deferred tax assets related to net operating losses and research and development tax
credits partially offset by a valuation allowance release related to Lightstep, Inc. acquired deferred tax liabilities.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of total unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021
Balance, beginning period $ 159 $ 124 $ 81 
Tax positions taken in prior period:

Gross increases — — 5 
Gross decreases — (1) — 

Tax positions taken in current period:
Gross increases 63 38 38 

Settlements (1) (2) — 
Balance, end of period $ 221 $ 159 $ 124 

 
As of December 31, 2023, we had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $221 million, of which $51 million would impact the effective

tax rate, if recognized. We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. Accrued interest and
penalties included in our liability related to unrecognized tax benefits were $6 million and $5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
amount of unrecognized tax benefits could be reduced upon expiration of the applicable statutes of limitations. The potential reduction in unrecognized tax
benefits during the next 12 months is not expected to be material. Interest and penalties accrued on these uncertain tax positions are recognized as income
tax expense and will be released upon the expiration of the statutes of limitations. These amounts are also not material for any periods presented. Further,
$51 million and $31 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been recorded as liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 
We are subject to taxation in the United States and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2023, our tax years 2004 to 2022 remain subject to

examination in most jurisdictions.
 
Due to differing interpretations of tax laws and regulations, tax authorities may dispute our tax filing positions. We periodically evaluate our

exposures associated with our tax filing positions and believe that adequate amounts have been reserved for adjustments that may result from tax
examinations.
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(17) Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

 For some of our offices and data centers, we have entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements with various expiration dates through
2035. Certain lease agreements include options to renew or terminate the lease, which are not reasonably certain to be exercised and therefore are not
factored into our determination of lease payments.

Total operating lease costs was $129 million, $112 million and $100 million, excluding short-term lease costs, variable lease costs and sublease
income each of which were immaterial, for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Total cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities was $82 million and $75 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining operating right-of-use assets was $130 million and
$192 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the weighted-average remaining lease term is approximately nine years and the weighted-average discount rate is 3.8%.

Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are presented in the table below (in millions):

Years Ending December 31,
2024 $ 109 
2025 127 
2026 105 
2027 89 
2028 85 
Thereafter 422 

Total operating lease payments 937 
Less: imputed interest (141)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 796 

In addition to the amounts above, as of December 31, 2023, we have operating leases, primarily for offices, that have not yet commenced with
undiscounted cash flows of $61 million. These operating leases are expected to commence between 2024 and 2025 with lease terms of three to ten years.
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Other Commitments

Other commitments consist of data center and IT operations and sales and marketing activities related to our daily business operations. Future
minimum payments under our non-cancellable purchase commitments as of December 31, 2023 are presented in the table below (in millions):

Purchase Obligations 
Years Ending December 31,

2024 $ 365 
2025 281 
2026 266 
2027 530 
2028 65 
Thereafter 93 

Total $ 1,600 

(1) Not included in the table above are certain purchase commitments related to our future annual Knowledge user conferences and other customer or sales conferences to be held in 2024 and
future years. If we had canceled these contractual commitments as of December 31, 2023, we would have been obligated to pay cancellation penalties of approximately $51 million in
aggregate.

During 2022, we entered into a non-cancellable, $500 million agreement with Microsoft to purchase cloud services over five years, as we accelerate
Azure adoption for mutual customers. The unutilized consumption is included within the table above.

In addition to the amounts above, the repayment of our 2030 Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion is due on September 1, 2030.
Refer to Note 11 for further information regarding our 2030 Notes.

Legal Proceedings
 
We are party to certain litigation and other legal proceedings. While legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to uncertainties, we do

not believe the ultimate resolution of any such proceedings is likely to result in a material loss. We accrue for loss contingencies when it is both probable
that we will incur the loss and when we can reasonably estimate the amount of the loss or range of loss.

On July 5, 2022, InQuisient Inc. (“Plaintiff”) filed a complaint against ServiceNow, Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware,
alleging the Now Platform’s use of relational databases infringes three of Plaintiff’s patents. Plaintiff is seeking injunctive relief and unspecified damages.
ServiceNow filed an answer denying Plaintiff’s allegations and asserts Plaintiff’s patents are, among other things, invalid, not infringed and otherwise
unenforceable. A trial date has been set for October 7, 2024. While ServiceNow continues to vigorously defend this matter, we cannot predict the outcome
with any degree of certainty. We also cannot provide an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss.

Any adverse determination related to intellectual property claims or other litigation could prevent us from offering our services and adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operations. For additional information regarding intellectual property litigation, see “Risk Factors—Lawsuits by third
parties that allege we infringe their intellectual property rights could harm our business and operating results” and “Risk Factors—Our intellectual property
protections may not provide us with a competitive advantage, and defending our intellectual property may result in substantial expenses that harm our
operating results.”

Indemnification Provisions

Our agreements include provisions indemnifying customers against intellectual property and other third-party claims. In addition, we have entered
into indemnification agreements with our directors, executive officers and certain other officers that will require us, among other things, to indemnify them
against certain liabilities that may arise as a result of their affiliation with us. We have not incurred any costs as a result of such indemnification obligations
and have not recorded any liabilities related to such obligations in the consolidated financial statements.

(1)
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(18) Information about Geographic Areas and Products

Revenues by geographic area, based on the location of our users, were as follows for the periods presented (in millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2023 2022 2021

North America $ 5,702 $ 4,723 $ 3,752 
EMEA 2,298 1,778 1,551 
Asia Pacific and other 971 744 593 

Total revenues $ 8,971 $ 7,245 $ 5,896 

Property and equipment, net by geographic area were as follows (in millions):

 December 31,
2023 2022

Property and equipment, net:
North America $ 871 $ 664 
EMEA 312 221 
Asia Pacific and other 175 168 

Total property and equipment, net $ 1,358 $ 1,053 

 
(1) Revenues attributed to the United States were 94% of North America revenues for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
(2) Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”)
(3) Property and equipment, net attributed to the United States were 79% and 85% of property and equipment, net attributable to North America as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

respectively.

Subscription revenues consist of the following (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Digital workflow products $ 7,679 $ 6,077 $ 4,882 
ITOM products 1,001 814 691 
Total subscription revenues $ 8,680 $ 6,891 $ 5,573 

Our digital workflow products include most of our product offerings and are generally priced on a per user basis. Our remaining product offerings,
primarily comprised of our ITOM products are predominantly priced on a subscription unit basis.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(2)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Regulations under the Exchange Act require public companies, including our Company, to maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” which are
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) to mean a company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required or necessary disclosures. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and
procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls
and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded, based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures by our management as of December 31, 2023, that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level for this purpose.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, the following directors and Section 16 officers adopted trading arrangements intended to satisfy the
affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c):

• Russell Elmer, our General Counsel, adopted a trading plan on November 22, 2023. The plan, which expires November 22, 2024, provides for the
sale of 100% of the (net) shares resulting from the vesting of 11,944 additional (gross) shares of our common stock during the plan period (net
shares are net of tax withholding).

• Frederic Luddy, a member of our board of directors, adopted a trading plan on November 21, 2023. The plan, which expires June 7, 2024,
provides for the sale of 100% of the (net) shares resulting from the vesting of 598 additional (gross) shares of our common stock during the plan
period (net shares are net of tax withholding).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURES REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTION THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not Applicable.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(a) Financial Statements

The information concerning our financial statements, and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm required by this Item is
incorporated by reference herein to the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 8, entitled “Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

(b) Financial Statement Schedules

    All schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the
schedules, or because the information required is included in Item 8, entitled the “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(c) Exhibits
 
The list of exhibits filed with this report is set forth in the Exhibit Index following the signature pages and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

Incorporated by Reference Filed
 HerewithForm File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant, as
amended 8-K 001-35580 3.1 6/9/2021

3.2 Restated Bylaws of Registrant 8-K 001-35580 3.2 6/9/2021
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 333-180486 4.1 6/19/2012

4.2
Indenture, dated August 11, 2020, by and between the
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association

8-K 001-35580 4.1 8/11/2020

4.3
First Supplemental Indenture (including Form of
Note), dated August 11, 2020, by and between the
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association

8-K 001-35580 4.2 8/11/2020

4.4 Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered
Under Section 12 of the Exchange Act 10-K 001-35580 4.5 2/3/2022

10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement 10-K 001-35580 10.1 2/27/2015

10.2* 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through
January 29, 2019 10-K 001-35580 10.3 2/27/2019

10.3* Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under 2012
Equity Incentive Plan, adopted as of April 16, 2020 10-Q 001-35580 10.1 7/30/2020

10.4*
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
under 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, adopted as of April
16, 2020

10-Q 001-35580 10.2 7/30/2020

10.5* ServiceNow, Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan 8-K 001-35580 10.1 6/2/2023

10.6* Related form of equity agreements under the
Amended and Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-35580 10.4 7/29/2021

10.7* Related form of global equity agreements under the
Amended and Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-35580 10.1 7/28/2022

10.8* Amended and Restated 2012 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 8-K 001-35580 10.2 6/9/2021

10.9* Form of Subscription Agreement under the Amended
and Restated 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 10-Q 001-35580 10.5 7/29/2021

10.10*
Form of Global Subscription Agreement under the
Amended and Restated 2012 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

10-Q 001-35580 10.2 7/28/2022
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000182/june2021restatedbylaws.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312512274253/d301887dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312512274253/d301887dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312520216380/d18413dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312520216380/d18413dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312520216380/d18413dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312520216380/d18413dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000024/now-20211231xex45.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000024/now-20211231xex45.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371515000067/now-20141231xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371515000067/now-20141231xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000070/now-20181231xex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000070/now-20181231xex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371520000191/now-20200630xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371520000191/now-20200630xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371520000191/now-20200630xex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371520000191/now-20200630xex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000282/a101ar2021equityincentivep.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000282/a101ar2021equityincentivep.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000202/now-20210630xex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000202/now-20210630xex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000182/ar2012espp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000182/ar2012espp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000202/now-20210630xex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000202/now-20210630xex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex102.htm
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Incorporated by Reference Filed
 HerewithForm File No. Exhibit Filing Date

10.11* 2022 New-Hire Equity Incentive Plan S-8 333-268298 4.4 11/10/2022

10.12* Employment Agreement dated October 22, 2019
between the Registrant and William R. McDermott 8-K 001-35580 10.1 10/23/2019

10.13*
Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March
24, 2020 between the Registrant and William R.
McDermott

8-K 001-35580 10.1 3/27/2020

10.14* Employment Agreement dated November 15, 2019
between the Registrant and Gina Mastantuono 8-K 001-35580 10.1 11/18/2019

10.15*
Confirmatory Employment Letter Agreement dated
October 31, 2017, between the Registrant and
Chirantan J. Desai

10-Q 001-35580 10.1 11/6/2017

10.16* Temporary Relocation dated July 28, 2023, by and
between the Registrant and Chirantan J. Desai 10-Q 001-35580 10.1 10/26/2023

10.17*
Confirmatory Employment Letter Agreement dated
November 13, 2018, between the Registrant and
Russell Elmer

10-K 001-35580 10.17 2/27/2019

10.18*
Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement
between the Registrant and each of Gina Mastantuono,
Chirantan J. Desai, and Russell S. Elmer.

8-K 001-35580 10.1 4/16/2021

10.19* Employment Letter Agreement dated June 18, 2021 by
and between the Registrant and Jacqueline Canney. 10-Q 001-35580 10.1 10/28/2021

10.20* Employment Agreement dated August 20, 2021 by
and between Registrant and Nicholas Tzitzon. 10-K 001-35580 10.25 2/3/2022

10.21*
Letter of Understanding - International Assignment
dated June 22, 2022, between the Registrant and
Nicholas Tzitzon

10-Q 001-35580 10.3 7/28/2022

10.22*
Confirmatory Employment Letter Agreement dated
January 2, 2018, as amended by and between the
Registrant and Christopher Bedi

10-Q 001-35580 10.1 4/28/2022

10.23*
Employment Letter Agreement dated November 6,
2017, as amended, by and between Registrant and
Lara Caimi

10-Q 001-35580 10.2 4/28/2022

10.24*
Employment Letter Agreement dated April 26, 2022,
as amended, by and between Registrant and Paul
Smith

10-Q 001-35580 10.3 4/28/2022

10.25*
Letter of Understanding - International Business
Travel Arrangement dated May 26, 2023, between the
Registrant and Paul Smith

10-Q 001-35580 10.1 7/27/2023

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant X

23.1 Consent of independent registered public accounting
firm X

24.1 Power of Attorney. Reference is made to the signature
page hereto X
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000358/a1aex44-2022newxhireequity.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000358/a1aex44-2022newxhireequity.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312519271896/d805784dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000119312519271896/d805784dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001373715/000137371520000080/mcdermottemploymentagr.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001373715/000137371520000080/mcdermottemploymentagr.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000297/employmentagreement-gm.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000297/employmentagreement-gm.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371517000164/now-2017930xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371517000164/now-2017930xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000419/now-20230930xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000419/now-20230930xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000070/now-20181231xex1017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371519000070/now-20181231xex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000100/a101formeaamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000100/a101formeaamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000100/a101formeaamendment.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000292/now-20210930xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371521000292/now-20210930xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000024/now-20211231xex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000024/now-20211231xex1025.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000241/now-20220630xex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371522000134/now-20220331xex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000325/now-20230630xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1373715/000137371523000325/now-20230630xex101.htm
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31.1
Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executive
Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

X

31.2
Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financial
Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

X

32.1**
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

32.2**
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

97* Incentive-Based Compensation Recovery Policy X

101.INS
XBRL Instance Document - the instance document
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document

X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) X

*    Indicates a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
**    The certifications on Exhibit 32 hereto are deemed not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: January 25, 2024
SERVICENOW, INC.
By: /s/ William R. McDermott

William R. McDermott 
 Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints William R. McDermott and Gina
Mastantuono, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the full power of substitution, for him or her and in his
or her name, place or stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their or his substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the

dates indicated.
Signature Title Date

/s/ William R. McDermott Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

January 25, 2024

William R. McDermott

/s/ Gina Mastantuono Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

January 25, 2024
Gina Mastantuono

/s/ Kevin T. McBride Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

January 25, 2024

Kevin T. McBride

/s/ Frederic B. Luddy Director January 25, 2024
Frederic B. Luddy

/s/ Deborah Black Director January 25, 2024
Deborah Black

/s/ Susan L. Bostrom Director January 25, 2024
Susan L. Bostrom

/s/ Teresa Briggs Director January 25, 2024
Teresa Briggs

/s/ Jonathan C. Chadwick Director January 25, 2024
Jonathan C. Chadwick

/s/ Paul E. Chamberlain Director January 25, 2024
Paul E. Chamberlain

/s/ Lawrence J. Jackson, Jr. Director January 25, 2024
Lawrence J. Jackson, Jr.

/s/ Jeffrey A. Miller Director January 25, 2024
Jeffrey A. Miller

/s/ Joseph M. Quinlan Director January 25, 2024
Joseph M. Quinlan

/s/ Anita M. Sands Director January 25, 2024
Anita M. Sands
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

ServiceNow Australia Pty Ltd Australia
ServiceNow GmbH Austria
ServiceNow Belgium BV Belgium
Sweagle NV Belgium
ServiceNow Brasil Gerenciamento de Servicos Ltda Brazil
Era Software, Inc. Canada
ServiceNow Canada Inc. Canada
ServiceNow Costa Rica, S.R.L. Costa Rica
DotWalk, Inc. Delaware
ServiceNow Ventures Holdings, Inc. Delaware
LightStep, Inc. Delaware
ServiceNow Delaware LLC Delaware
ServiceNow Delaware Holdco LLC Delaware
ServiceNow Denmark ApS Denmark
Caelum Egypt LLC Egypt
ServiceNow Finland Oy Finland
Contexeo SAS France
ServiceNow France SAS France
G2K Group GmbH Germany
Service-now.com GmbH Germany
ServiceNow Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
ITapp Software Private Limited India
ServiceNow Data Services Private Limited India
ServiceNow Software Development India Private Limited India
ServiceNow International Treasury Limited Ireland
ServiceNow Ireland Limited Ireland
Service Now A.B Israel 2012 Ltd Israel
ServiceNow Italy S.r.l. Italy
ServiceNow Japan G.K. Japan
Fairchild Consulting Services LLC Massachusetts
ServiceNow Operations Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Hitch B.V. Netherlands
ServiceNow International B.V. Netherlands
ServiceNow Nederland B.V. Netherlands
ServiceNow Norway AS Norway
Swarm64 AS Norway
ServiceNow Poland sp. z o.o. Poland
ServiceNow Arabia Limited Saudi Arabia
Element AI & Takano Pte. Ltd. Singapore
ServiceNow Pte. Ltd. Singapore



ServiceNow South Africa Pty Ltd. South Africa
ServiceNow Korea Limited South Korea
ServiceNow Spain SL Spain
ServiceNow Sweden AB Sweden
ServiceNow Switzerland GmbH Switzerland
ServiceNow (Thailand) Limited Thailand
ServiceNow Middle East FZ-LLC UAE
Era Software, LTD United Kingdom
ServiceNow UK Limited United Kingdom
Sweagle Ltd. United Kingdom



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-255587) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-
182445, 333-188462, 333-194210, 333-202331, 333-209785, 333-216330, 333-223331, 333-253013, 333-256854, 333-257171, 333-267883,
333-268298, 333-272561, and 333-273304) of ServiceNow, Inc. of our report dated January 25, 2024 relating to the financial statements and
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
January 25, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William R. McDermott, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ServiceNow, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: January 25, 2024 /s/ William R. McDermott
William R. McDermott
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gina Mastantuono, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ServiceNow, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: January 25, 2024 /s/ Gina Mastantuono
Gina Mastantuono
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William R. McDermott, Chief Executive Officer of ServiceNow, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2023 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: January 25, 2024
/s/ William R. McDermott
William R. McDermott
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to ServiceNow, Inc. and will be retained by it and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gina Mastantuono, Chief Financial Officer of ServiceNow, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2023 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: January 25, 2024
/s/ Gina Mastantuono
Gina Mastantuono
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to ServiceNow, Inc. and will be retained by it and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 97

SERVICENOW, INC.
INCENTIVE-BASED COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

Effective as of October 23, 2023

1. Recoupment of Incentive-Based Compensation

It is the policy of ServiceNow, Inc. (the “Company”) that, in the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement of
the Company’s financial statements due to material non-compliance with any financial reporting requirement under federal securities laws, the
Company will recover on a reasonably prompt basis the amount of any Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Executive during
the Clawback Period that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated financial
statements.

2. Policy Administration

This Policy is administered by the Leadership Development and Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the
“Committee”) and is intended to comply with, and as applicable to be administered and interpreted consistent with, Listing Standard 303A.14
adopted by the New York Stock Exchange to implement Rule 10D-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (collectively,
“Rule 10D-1’”).

3. Definitions

“Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement (i) due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial
statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) that corrects an error that is not material
to previously issued financial statements, but would result in a material misstatement if the error were not corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period (a “little r” restatement).

“Clawback Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three (3) completed fiscal years of the Company
immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any “transition period” as prescribed under Rule 10D-1.

“Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean, in connection with an Accounting Restatement all Incentive-Based
Compensation Received by a person (i) on or after October 2, 2023, (ii) after beginning service as a Covered Executive, (iii) who served as a
Covered Executive at any time during the applicable performance period for any Incentive-Based Compensation (whether or not such Covered
Executive is serving at the time the Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company), (iv) during
the applicable Clawback Period, and (v) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national
securities association.

“Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean, with respect to each Covered Executive in connection with an
Accounting Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive-Based Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based
Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to any
taxes paid.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation granted, earned or vested based in whole or in part on the Company’s
attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

A “Financial Reporting Measure” is (i) any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used
in preparing the Company’s financial statements and any measure derived wholly or in part from such a measure, and (ii) any measure based in
whole or in part on the Company’s stock price or total shareholder return. For the avoidance of doubt, any such measure does not need to be
presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a fling with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to
constitute a Financial Reporting Measure.

Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed to be “Received” in the fiscal period during which the relevant Financial Reporting Measure is
attained, regardless of when the compensation is actually paid or awarded.



“Covered Executive” means any officer of the Company as defined under Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

“Restatement Date” shall mean the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, or a committee of the Board or the officers of the Company
authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to
prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an
Accounting Restatement.

4. Repayment of Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation

(a)     In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Committee shall on a reasonably prompt basis determine the amount of Erroneously
Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation for each Covered Executive in connection with such Accounting Restatement and shall promptly
thereafter provide each Covered Executive with a written notice containing the amount of Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation and a demand for repayment or return, as applicable.

i.     For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return where the amount of the Erroneously Awarded
Incentive-Based Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting
Restatement, the Committee will determine the amount based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the
relevant stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received (in which case, the
Company shall maintain documentation of such determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the New
York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)).

(b)     The Company may effect any recovery pursuant to this Policy by requiring payment of such amount(s) to the Company, by set-off, by
reducing future compensation, or by such other means or combination of means as the Committee determines to be appropriate.

(c)     To the extent that a Covered Executive fails to repay the Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation, in its entirety, to the
Company when due, the Company shall take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation from the applicable Covered Executive. The applicable Covered Executive shall be required to reimburse the Company for
any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

(d)     Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company need not recover the Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation
if and to the extent that the Committee determines that such recovery is impracticable and not required under Rule 10D-1, subject to and in
accordance with any applicable exceptions permitted by Rule 10D-1, including if the Committee determines that the direct expense paid to
a third party (including reasonable legal expenses and consulting fees) to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be
recovered after making a reasonable attempt to recover such amounts, documenting such attempt(s) and providing that documentation to the
NYSE. The Company is authorized to take appropriate steps to implement this Policy with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation
arrangements with Covered Executives.

5. Disclosure Requirements

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy and recovery determinations made hereunder in accordance with the
requirements of U.S. federal securities laws and the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

6. Other Recoupment Rights

Any right of recoupment or recovery pursuant to this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other recoupment requirements
applicable to the Company or remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any other policy,
any employment agreement or plan or award terms, and any other legal remedies available to the Company. Any amounts recouped or recovered
under any other policy that would be recoverable under this policy, however, shall count towards any required recoupment or recovery under
this Policy, and vice versa.



7. Indemnification Prohibition

No member of the Company shall be permitted to indemnify any Covered Executive (directly or through the payment of insurance
premiums or gross-up payments) against (i) the loss of any Incentive-Based Compensation that is repaid, returned or recovered pursuant to the
terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, the Company shall not enter
into any agreement that exempts any Incentive-Based Compensation from the application of this Policy or that waives the Company’s right to
recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Incentive-Based Compensation and this Policy shall supersede any such agreement (whether entered into
before, on or after the effective date of this Policy).

8. Interpretation

Any determinations made by the Committee under this Policy shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

9. Amendment; Termination

The Committee may make any amendments to this Policy as required under applicable law, rules and regulations, or as otherwise
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee may terminate this Policy at any time. Notwithstanding anything in this
Section 9 to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such amendment or termination would cause the
Company to violate any U.S. federal securities law or NYSE rule.

10. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other
legal representatives.


